THE ROLE OF FLUIDS, ELECTROLYTES AND PLASMA PROTEINS IN EXPERIMENTAL TRAUMATIC SHOCK AND HEMORRHAGE

SANFORD M. ROSENTHAL AND R. CARL MILLICAN

National Institute of Arthritis and Metabolic Diseases, National Institutes of Health, U. S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, U. S. Public Health Service, Bethesda 14, Maryland

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I. Standardization of experimental procedures	490
1. Uniformity of animals	490
2. Environmental temperature.	490
3. Anesthesia	491
4. Standardization of trauma	491
5. The criteria of shock	491
6. Simultaneous comparisons in evaluation studies	492
7. Number of animals.	492
8. Dosage and rate of administration of therapy	493
II. Fluid distribution in shock	494
III. Sodium disturbances in shock	496
IV. The role of potassium in shock	498
V. Plasma protein disturbances in shock	500
1. Plasmapheresis experiments	500
2. Behavior of administered plasma proteins in normal and shocked animals	501
3. Static nature of plasma proteins accumulated in traumatized areas	503
4. Plasma protein levels in shock	503
VI. Evaluation of colloids, sodium and fluid in the therapy of shocked animals	505
A. Evaluation of therapy in shock resulting from local trauma	505
1. Muscle trauma in dogs by tourniquets	505
2. Other forms of local trauma in dogs	506
3. Muscle trauma in rats and mice	506
B. Evaluation of therapy in experimental burn shock	507
1. Burn shock in dogs	507
2. Burn shock in small animals	507
C. Evaluation of therapy in hemorrhage and hemorrhagic shock	508
1. Therapy against acute hemorrhagic death	508
2. Hemorrhagic shock	509
D. Comments on evaluation of therapy	509
VII. General discussion	510

This review will be limited to those forms of shock, experimentally produced, which are associated with large losses of fluid from the circulation either as a result of hemorrhage or as a result of swelling at the site of physical injury.

Animal investigations in the field of traumatic shock have yielded diversified and often contradictory results. An inquiry into the causes of this unsatisfactory situation might be helpful to future experimentation in this field.

One of the causes, which cannot be corrected in the present state of our knowledge, is that all of the basic mechanisms in the production of shock are not understood. This is reflected in the difficulty in precisely defining the shock state, and in the diverse methods and criteria which have been employed in animal studies. Reviews covering various aspects of shock included in this publication have been compiled by Blalock (24), Harkins (118, 118a), Moon (186), Davis (54), Wiggers (276), Selye (241), Randall (217), Overman (202), Millican and Rosenthal (184), and Frank (88).

I. STANDARDIZATION OF EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES

An important source of discrepancy is the lack of standardization of experimental procedures. To obtain less variability of results the experience of bioassay might be profitably applied. This involves standardization in the following ways:

1. Uniformity of animals. Animals should be of one strain and sex, and of similar age and nutritional state. Much of the earlier work on shock has been carried out on the dog. While the dog is best suited for cardiovascular studies, this species presents several difficulties in meeting the requirements herewith outlined for standardization. Apart from the problem of obtaining homogeneity and adequate numbers, the dog has certain other drawbacks. The canine electrolyte pattern is quite different from that of man in that the erythrocyte cation is largely sodium instead of potassium (145). In some laboratories (10, 77, 85, 233) attempts to produce standardized burn shock without prolonged anesthesia have not been successful, as dogs are highly resistant. It is believed that this resistance may be related to the low erythrocyte K^+ in the dog (see also under anesthesia); thus Roos *et al.* (228) found toxic levels of serum K^+ in burned pigs, but not in burned dogs.

Another objection to the dog is the presence of bacteria in normal tissues, and the susceptibility of the shocked dog to bacterial invasion (79, 89, 210, 224, 249, 279). Much of the work on "irreversible" shock in dogs must be reevaluated in the light of this complication.

Small animals such as the mouse, rat, rabbit, or guinea pig offer many advantages for the study of shock. It is true that the mouse and rat are resistant to histamine intoxication (although not to certain metabolic effects) and do not afford good preparations for investigating the role of histamine in shock where mortality studies are employed.

The application of experimental results in shock to clinical practice, particularly in the field of therapy, has been viewed by many clinicians with considerable skepticism. The discordant results obtained in the laboratory have to some extent justified this skepticism, but experimental shortcomings have been due more to inadequate techniques than to differences between man and small laboratory animals, as is frequently stated. This is an important question, because progress in therapy without reliance upon the laboratory would be analogous to progress in bacterial chemotherapy without animal experimentation. There is at present no evidence that rodents differ from man in the fluid, electrolyte and protein disturbances that accompany trauma.

2. Environmental temperature. It has been shown that external temperature can profoundly affect the course of shock (54, 254). For this reason experiments should be carried out within a narrow range of temperature, preferably 25 to 28° C.

3. Anesthesia. The influence of anesthesia is controversial (78, 134, 186, 276), but deep and prolonged anesthesia reproduces many of the circulatory and metabolic manifestations of shock. In the reviewers' opinion prolonged anesthesia is best avoided. The ability of some investigators to produce standardized burn shock in dogs under barbiturate anesthesia (67) has not been achieved with brief ether anesthesia (77, 78, 85, 233), and the discrepancy has been attributed to the anesthetic. It would be well to establish this point more definitely by simultaneous experiments comparing ether with more prolonged barbiturate anesthesia, for the important question of the role of anesthesia on the course of shock cannot be answered with the evidence at hand.

4. Standardization of trauma. Many different types and conditions of trauma have been employed. Most of them bring about large fluid accumulations in the areas of injury, or fluid losses in the form of hemorrhage. Many instances of the importance of standardized trauma can be cited. Two types of burn injury can be produced; one brought about at a higher temperature is associated with little swelling and with a poor response to replacement therapy (214). It has also been observed (7, 91, 233) that when the amount of trauma is increased to two M.L.D. (such as tourniquet application to four legs instead of two) it is not possible with available therapy to bring about survival of most animals. The problem of assay of therapy is therefore at present complicated by its limited effectiveness. Trauma involving injury to the central nervous system, or other types of trauma not resulting in large fluid shifts (electric shock, certain bacterial toxins) results in a form of shock in many ways different from the type under discussion. The role of damage to the nervous system in "tumbling" shock has not been clarified (276). Likewise the possibility of bacterial invasion through the damaged mucous membranes has not been investigated in shock produced by intestinal trauma. A detailed survey of the various experimental methods for producing shock is not within the scope of this review.

Hemorrhage may bring about either acute death or prolonged hypotension with delayed death. The metabolic disturbances of the latter form are similar to those present in traumatic shock (54, 70, 278) and probably reflect generalized anoxic cell injury. The similarities of and differences between traumatic and hemorrhagic shock are reviewed by Moon (186) and Wiggers (276).

*Irreversible shock.*¹ This term is used to define a degree of shock that will not respond to therapy. Since this will vary with the therapy, and since it may be brought about by a variety of causes, including excessive amounts of trauma, certain types of trauma, or secondary bacterial infection, it would seem desirable to the reviewers to discourage the use of this term as an expression of the extent of shock.

5. The criteria of shock. The earlier experimental studies were chiefly related to changes in blood pressure, pulse, and hematocrit. These criteria have been found to be unreliable as an index of the severity of shock or of the survival of the animal (118, 276). Marked reduction in blood volume in experimental shock

¹ An article by Koletsky and Gustafson (150a) on therapy in the terminal phase of shock has currently appeared.

was originally observed by Mann (174), and later studies have shown a good but not complete correlation between blood volume and severity of shock (54, 108, 109). Attempts have also been made to employ certain biochemical changes in the blood, such as CO_2 (11) or amino nitrogen (234) as an index of shock.

All of these procedures measure important physiological and biochemical disturbances, but they do not necessarily correlate with mortality. This is best illustrated by the discrepancy between hemodynamic changes and survival which occur following various types of experimental therapy (141, 166, 167, 168, 183, 234, 249).

Erlanger and Gasser (71) were the first to recommend mortality as a criterion of therapy in shock, and they stressed the importance of statistical validity. This principle of employing mortality as a basis in the experimental evaluation of therapy has been generally adopted, as will be shown by the recent work presented later in this review.

6. Simultaneous comparisons in evaluation studies. In the evaluation of therapeutic procedures it is important to make comparisons of various experimental groups at the same time, preferably by rotation from one group to another. This may be difficult for large animals because of the limited numbers that can be used at one time, but in our experience considerable variations in mortality response may occur from one day to another in spite of efforts to standardize experimental conditions. These errors of sampling can only be reduced by simultaneous comparison of alternate groups of animals (119, 164, 167, 232).

7. Numbers of animals. Adequate numbers of animals must be employed to overcome the biological variations which occur even under standardized conditions. To illustrate this point, the following statistical analysis was made of the survival of 422 mice subjected to 1 MLD of burn injury and treated with 1 ml. of 0.9 per cent NaCl intraperitoneally. This amount of therapy was selected because it produces a survival response (approximately 50 per cent) which is favorable for statistical comparison. The experiments were carried out in our laboratory between August 1950 and August 1951 upon an inbred strain of albino mice under standardized conditions as outlined above. The object of this analysis is to show the range of variation that occurs in shocked animals receiving identical therapy, and the degree of reproducibility of our experimental results. From these data it is possible to define the number of animals and the percentage difference in survival response that will be required for statistical significance when two therapeutic agents are being compared under these standardized conditions.

In 27 individual experiments which averaged 16 animals in each experiment, shocked mice received 1 ml. of saline and the average survival was 45.2 per cent with a range of 15.4 per cent to 76.1 per cent. The average survival of the shocked untreated mice run alternately with the treated mice was 6.7 per cent. The distribution of the individual survivals of the treated mice, as indicated in Fig. 1, approximates a normal distribution. This is illustrated in the graph by the similarity of the experimental data to a theoretical distribution curve. This approach to a theoretical distribution indicates that the major factors influencing



FIG. 1. Burn-shock in mice. Distribution of the 24 hr. survivals of burn-shocked mice treated with 1 ml. of saline intraperitoneally in 27 experiments comprising a total of 422 mice with an average of 16 mice per experiment. The solid curve line represents the theoretical distribution curve derived according to standard statistical procedures (208a).

mortality have been satisfactorily standardized in our procedure. For the treated mice the standard deviation was ± 17.3 per cent (for 16 mice per group). Standard deviations for groups of 32 and 48 animals were ± 12.3 per cent and ± 10.5 per cent respectively. When comparisons of therapeutic agents are made in the range of 50 per cent survival, it can be shown, on the basis of $\sqrt{\frac{P \times q}{n}}$, that when 15 animals per group are employed mortality differences greater than 35 per cent must be obtained in order to establish that one form of therapy is different from another (P > 0.05). If 30 or 45 animals per group are required.

With less exact standardization correspondingly greater differences will be needed for validity, and it is unfortunate that a large amount of the experimental work in this field will not meet the requirements of statistical validity (135).

8. Dosage and rate of administration of therapy. In the comparative evaluation of therapeutic agents, it is theoretically desirable to make comparisons at various dosage levels in order to obtain the statistical Survival Dose_{50} of each compound. In the field of shock there is regrettably little quantitative data in this respect. With the use of small animals and simple techniques it is now feasible to accomplish this purpose (167, 182, 235).

Rate and also the route of administration must be considered when therapeutic comparisons are made, since it has been found that the administration of plasma is 50 per cent more effective when infused over a period of hours or given intraperitoneally than when given in one intravenous injection (166, 181, 182, 249). A similar increase in effectiveness was not obtained with electrolyte solutions.

It must be pointed out that the study of certain biochemical or physiological changes in shock may be carried out under conditions of standardization much less rigid, since deviations from relatively constant normal values are of greater significance. The above requirements apply primarily to studies dealing with mortality.

II. FLUID DISTRIBUTION IN SHOCK

An historical review of this subject is given by Cannon (36) and Harkins (118). Following the demonstration of a reduced blood volume in shock unattended by hemorrhage (142, 194), explanations for the disappearance of this fluid were sought in the stagnation of blood in certain areas of the vascular bed, and in generalized tissue edema resulting from increased capillary permeability, later championed by Moon (186).

Accurate comparison of (a) the volume of blood removed by measured hemorrhage which would produce shock with (b) the amount of fluid which escapes locally into traumatized tissues, revealed a similarity which led Parsons and Phemister (206) and Blalock (22, 23, 136) to the view that fluid "loss" was a factor of major importance. It is now generally believed that these "losses" into the injured areas are sufficient to account for the decreases in blood volume which are characteristic of shock from trauma (108). Recent evidence, to be cited below, does not support the view that increased generalized capillary permeability is an important factor in shock.

The older experiments of Cannon and Bayliss (37) had underestimated the extent of fluid accumulation because their measurements did not include the entire area of swelling, which extends beyond the area of injury. More inclusive measurements of swelling following a fatal degree of leg trauma in untreated animals gave average values of "fluid loss", expressed as per cent of body weight, as follows: 4.17 per cent (206); 3.66 per cent, not necessarily fatal (22); 4.03 per cent (236); 5 per cent (137); 4.6 per cent (45); 4.5–5 per cent (146); 4.8 per cent (200); 4.8 per cent (149); 4.66 per cent (255).

A lack of correlation between fluid accumulation and mortality has been reported by some workers (106, 116, 173, 223, 236, 244). These results are interpreted in favor of additional "toxic factors", but the experimental errors involved in such a study would require a large series of animals to establish validity. The extensive literature on "toxic factors" will not be covered in this review.

The amount of whole blood that will produce death when removed within a period of a few hours has been found to be: 5.1 per cent (136); 4.5 per cent (227); 5.07 per cent (155); 4.5-5 per cent (146); 4.88-5.7 per cent (106); 4.8 per cent (200); 3.58 per cent (212); 5 per cent (252).

Studies upon 302 mice subjected to standardized acute hemorrhage revealed that the mortality response plotted against the volume of blood loss followed an almost linear curve beginning with 15 per cent mortality at a blood loss of 3.5 per cent body weight and ending with 95.5 per cent mortality at 5 per cent body weight. Thus, no sharply limited range of blood loss could be established which would represent a fatal or nonfatal hemorrhage (252).

Slightly lower values for removal of plasma alone have been reported: 4 per cent (120); 2.6 per cent (136); 4.4 per cent (227); 3.07 per cent (212). However, because comparisons have not been made simultaneously or under properly standardized conditions, it cannot be stated with certainty that the removal of plasma is more critical than the removal of whole blood. The similar degree of fluid loss in fatal hemorrhage and traumatic shock should not be emphasized to the neglect of some important differences between them (186, 276). While many of these differences tend to disappear in the later stages of shock, the possibility of toxic factors from local injury has not been excluded. Wang *et al.* (265) found that the LD₅₀ from hemorrhage in the presence of muscle trauma occurs at a residual blood volume of 73 ml./kgm. as compared to 59 ml./kgm. in hemorrhage alone. Similar results were obtained by Fine *et al.* (78); this affords quantitative confirmation of the many earlier reports that traumatic shock reduces the tolerance to blood loss.

The local fluid accumulation in untreated shock must occur at the expense of the uninjured tissues. More than half of it is contributed from the blood, with the resultant decrease in plasma volume (77, 128, 200).

An over-all dehydration was observed in the viscera and in the uninjured upper half of the carcass of tourniquet shocked mice by Tabor *et al.* (255). No dehydration of uninjured legs was found after non-fatal trauma in mice (84). Measurement of the extent of dehydration of specific tissues has yielded inconsistent results (28, 51, 121, 152, 223, 259). Since a large part of the fluid is drawn from the blood, the losses in individual organs may be influenced by their vascularity, although no such correlation has been established. Underhill and Fisk (260) in hemorrhage and Holmes and Painter (128) in muscle trauma found that skin, and to a less extent muscle, lost water, and the former workers emphasized the great tenacity with which cells hold on to their water. The spleen has been shown to contribute a substantial amount of its blood in response to hemorrhage (55, 141, 156, 161, 201).

With a fatal degree of trauma in untreated animals, an amount of fluid equal to approximately half the plasma volume must be contributed from extravascular areas (77, 200, 223). Somewhat lower values have been obtained in trauma of less severity (13, 128). The source of this fluid has been the subject of considerable investigation. Earlier studies based on K^+ or N increases in the blood or excretion in the urine of animals subjected to hemorrhage led to the belief that part of the water was drawn from intracellular sources (94, 140, 144, 185, 248). Lands and Johnson (152) found a large increase in thiocyanate space 1 to 2 hours after hemorrhage in cats. Ashworth and Kregel (12) concluded that intracellular water increased after hemorrhage but decreased after muscle trauma.

On the other hand Brues *et al.* (28) using Na²⁴ and thiocyanate found no increase in total extracellular space after hemorrhage, tourniquet or muscle trauma;

similar conclusions that no fluid was contributed from the intracellular space were reached by Holmes and Painter (128), and Danowski *et al.* (47). Some degree of intracellular hydration of uninjured tissues was postulated by Fox and Baer (84), similar to that reported in sodium depletion (50, 96). Lemley and Meneely (158) found a decrease of intracellular water associated with increases of total and extracellular water in anoxic heart muscle, but not in skeletal muscle.

Thus, while the movement of K^+ and nonprotein nitrogen might be associated with metabolic disturbances not involving commensurate water shifts, more direct measurements have not been in agreement. Although the most recent studies indicate no withdrawal of intracellular water it would appear to the reviewers that large depletion of the extracellular fluid might have an effect upon the intracellular fluid volume that is not revealed by the available techniques.

The behavior of fluids administered therapeutically in experimental traumatic shock reveals the remarkable avidity of injured tissues for fluid, additional to that which they can derive from the uninjured tissues; following certain types of injury, the capacity of traumatized tissues to swell appears to be limited chiefly by the amount of sodium containing fluid available to them. The experiments of Blalock et al. (25), Nickerson (200), Nathanson et al. (197), Langohr et al. (153), and Fox et al. (83, 84) indicated that administered fluids result in large accumulations in the areas of injury. The distribution of administered fluids in tourniquet-shocked mice was measured quantitatively by Tabor et al. (255) in the traumatized lower half of the carcass, in the nontraumatized upper half, and in the viscera. Two hours after intravenous injection of saline or mouse serum, three-fourths of the administered fluids could be recovered in the injured areas, even when amounts of therapy totaling 18 per cent body weight were given. No edema of the uninjured tissues (apart from some spreading by contiguity into tissues adjacent to the trauma) was observed after these large volumes of therapy; the amounts of administered fluid recovered in them did not exceed that which served to correct the dehydration which was present in the untreated controls. Comparable protein and electrolyte accumulations occur in the injured areas, and will be described below. It must be pointed out that these large accumulations were observed under conditions where therapy was administered during the period of swelling of the injured parts. Accumulations of less magnitude may be found when therapy is delayed beyond this period (see section V 3, p. 503).

Fogleman *et al.* (81) using deuterium measured the transcapillary movement of water following hemorrhage in dogs, and found it reduced from 72 per cent blood water per minute to 39 per cent. A similar study by Gellhorn *et al.* (95), using Na^{24} in traumatic shock showed a reduction to 50 per cent of normal, which was not influenced by therapy. These large changes are interpreted as due to decreased functional capillary area.

III. SODIUM DISTURBANCES IN SHOCK

The movement of extracellular fluid results in parallel shifts in electrolyte, and the earlier studies of Underhill et al. (258, 261) and Davidson (52) indicated

the magnitude of the changes in NaCl that occur following extensive burns. These authors advocated large volumes of saline in the therapy of burns, but general interest at that time was largely centered upon the role of plasma proteins in the cause and therapy of shock.

Manery and Solandt (173) analyzed traumatized muscle tissue and demonstrated a gain in Cl⁻ and a loss in K⁺. A similar interchange had been found by Hastings and Eichelberger (114) with normal muscle placed in Ringer's solution. Tabor and Rosenthal (253) made quantitative measurements of the total changes in fluid, Na⁺ and K⁺ that occurred in the extremities of mice following tourniquet application. In untreated animals the gain in Na⁺ was 33 per cent greater than could be accounted for by the fluid increase; a corresponding decrease in K⁺ was found, indicating that the injured cells had lost K⁺ and acquired Na⁺ to this extent. The total Na⁺ accumulation in the injured areas of untreated mice was equivalent to the entire sodium in the circulating blood, or one-fourth that in the total extracellular fluid. Changes of large magnitude were found independently by Fox and Keston in mice (83), employing Na²⁴, and comparable findings were later reported by Fuhrman and Crismon (92, 93) and by Walser and Bodenlos (264) in rats and rabbits, and by Holmes and Painter in dogs (128).

These changes are within the range of acute sodium depletion found by Darrow and Yannet (50) and by Elkinton *et al.* (64) to produce circulatory collapse in otherwise normal animals. These investigators produced salt depletion by the intraperitoneal injection into dogs of glucose solutions, followed by withdrawal of the solutions in 4 to 6 hours; water depletion was brought about by the intravenous injection of urea and glucose solutions. It was shown that with equal reduction of extracellular volume, circulatory collapse was manifest with salt depletion but not with water depletion. Similar results were obtained from intramuscular injections in dogs by Davis (53) and in goats and rabbits by Cameron *et al.* (33).

Following the demonstration that survival could be accomplished by large volumes of saline, it was possible to measure the extent of sodium retention that occurs in treated animals following a lethal degree of trauma (83, 253); 0.35 mM (of 0.38 mM administered) was retained during the first 24 hours, or approximately three times as much as could be accounted for in the injured area of untreated mice. It was later shown that the increased local swelling which follows treatment could explain the fate of this retained sodium (200, 255). A large retention of sodium has been confirmed clinically in burn cases (190).

The mechanism of this sodium retention might be attributed to decreased renal excretion (12, 189, 243a), as a result of circulatory or hormonal effects, but the evidence at hand indicates that the local accumulation in the injured areas is the most important factor (190, 255); however, the possible role of hormones in the production and regulation of swelling at the site of trauma has not been clarified.

Acute adrenal insufficiency bears a close resemblance to shock; the sodium loss occurs through renal excretion in the former and through the injured area in the latter. The urinary pictures are reversed, and it would not be expected that adrenal hormones could conserve sodium or significantly alter the course of shock (132, 184, 189, 276). Pretreatment with DOCA can influence survival (43, 198, 219), but this can be explained by the sodium retention brought about prior to the onset of trauma.

The levels of plasma sodium (or chloride) in various forms of shock have been found within normal values (8, 12, 28, 128, 229) or slightly depressed (26, 50, 52, 165, 215, 248, 258, 264). The absence of large changes is not surprising since the replacement of blood volume occurs chiefly from extracellular fluids which have the same Na⁺ content as plasma.

IV. THE ROLE OF POTASSIUM IN SHOCK

Earlier observations of Kerr (144), Thaler (256), Rabboni (215), Baetjer (15), and Fenn et al. (72) demonstrated the release of K^+ into the blood following hemorrhage, muscle trauma, or arterial occlusion. It was shown by Horton that an isolated frog muscle would lose K⁺ as a result of physical or chemical trauma (130). Several reports followed on the increase of blood K^+ from asphysia (38, 56, 57, 72, 131, 193, 286) (see Fenn (73) for review). Analyses of edema fluid at the site of trauma revealed higher concentrations of K^+ than in the plasma (173, 223, 257, 286). Zwemer and Scudder (285, 287) postulated an etiological role of K⁺ in shock, based on blood levels in shocked animals as compared to normal animals intoxicated with K. Large increases in the blood were present in the terminal phases (for review see Scudder (238)). Although this was partially confirmed by Clarke and Cleghorn (40), later work upon dogs, rabbits, rats, and humans is in agreement that only small increases in the blood are present during the course of shock and concentrations sufficient to cause death are frequently, but not invariably, encountered shortly before death (12, 26, 28, 39, 59, 112, 127, 129, 173, 178, 211, 223, 225, 228, 229, 239, 253, 256, 282). It is of interest that some of these investigators reported concomitant rises in blood cellular K^+ , indicating a storage function for excess K^+ (26, 144, 238), although this was not confirmed by Ricca (223).

Analyses of injured muscles have shown small (128, 223) or considerable losses of K⁺ (28, 84, 92, 93, 173, 253, 280). Increases of Na⁺ and Cl⁻ greater than the influx of water are present, indicating an intracellular exchange of cations previously described under sodium. The injured cells thus behave, to the extent of this exchange, as an extracellular compartment. These observations were confirmed upon rats and rabbits by Fuhrman and Crismon (92, 93) who further showed that the exchange was independent of the amount of swelling.

In an attempt to measure the magnitude of this liberation of K^+ the entire injured areas of mice subjected to a lethal amount of tourniquet trauma were analyzed for K^+ and Na⁺ by Tabor and Rosenthal (253). 1.86 mM of K^+ per kgm. body weight disappeared from the injured area. In companion experiments upon mice where death was prevented by saline therapy, the excess K^+ excreted in the urine was approximately 3 times this amount, indicating liberation of K^+ from the uninjured parts of the body. Similar changes were reported independently by Fox and Baer (84). This could be attributed to the anoxia which accompanies shock. The magnitude of these changes was sufficient to incriminate K^+ as a possible toxic factor. Increased K^+ excretion has also been reported following hemorrhage in dogs (12, 248). A considerable number of clinical reports have substantiated an increased K^+ excretion following trauma.

The adjustment of the uninjured tissues to these increased concentrations of K^+ has been given some study. Miller and Darrow (179) have reported increased concentrations of K^+ in muscle following KCl injection. Following hemorrhage or muscle trauma in dogs, rats and mice, similar elevations have been reported for uninjured muscle, liver, heart, pancreas, and erythrocytes (28, 30, 40, 51, 84, 86).

The blood levels of potassium in the terminal stages of shock seldom reach values that are attained when normal animals are killed by infusions of potassium. A further evaluation of the role of K^+ in death from shock rests upon a demonstration of the increased sensitivity of the shocked animal to K^+ intoxication, with the possibility that death will occur under these conditions at a lower level of plasma K^+ than in normal animals. Evidence in support of this was presented by Tabor and Rosenthal (253) for the mouse, where acute death of the shocked animal could be brought about by one-eighth of the amount of K^+ required to kill normal mice. A similar increased sensitivity has been reported for the dog by Davis (54).

Further evidence that in the shocked animal death from K^+ might occur at a lower blood level than in normal animals, was obtained in a comparison of the serum K^+ of (a) rabbits in the terminal stages of tourniquet shock, (b) shocked rabbits killed acutely by K⁺ administration and (c) normal rabbits killed similarly by K⁺ (253). Values were 12.08, 13.2, and 16.58 mM per liter for (a), (b) and (c) respectively. In view of the fact that the shocked animal behaves in many respects similarly to the adrenalectomized animal, it must be pointed out that the evidence of Winkler, Hoff and Smith (281) is not in agreement with the above observations; they found that adrenalectomized dogs behave similarly to normal dogs in response to plasma levels of K^+ . However their animals were maintained on sodium, so that final evaluation must await further studies in untreated adrenalectomized animals, as well as in shock. It is pertinent that Kendall (143) states that in adrenal insufficiency untreated with cortical extract "the toxicity of K^+ cannot be expressed in terms of its concentration in the plasma", and that Hoff, Humm and Winkler (126) demonstrated that small elevations of serum K^+ greatly increased the activity of the vague on the heart. It must also be borne in mind that potassium may exert toxic effects other than those revealed by electrocardiographic changes.²

Therefore, the evidence indicates that potassium may attain concentrations in the blood in the terminal phases of shock adequate to account for death in some instances. The possibility that potassium may exert some effects during the course of shock cannot be excluded on the basis of blood concentrations alone; this is suggested by the large and specific increases in sensitivity of the shocked animal to injections of potassium, and by the large amounts of potassium that appear in the urine as a sequence of trauma. While potassium death

² A current article by Ravin et al. (218a) has appeared on this subject.

in normal animals can be attributed to cardiac action, other loci of action have not been excluded. Three factors, fluid loss, sodium loss, and potassium liberation exist in shock, and are interdependent. While the magnitude of each change may not in itself be sufficient to produce death, their combined effects may augment one another, and may exert an important influence on mortality in shock.

V. PLASMA PROTEIN DISTURBANCES IN SHOCK

When it was demonstrated that a marked diminution of blood volume was present in most forms of shock (108, 118 for review), this was generally accepted as the cause of the circulatory collapse. Whole blood transfusions and the use of acacia and other colloid solutions were used during World War I as therapeutic measures to restore blood volume (36). Mann (174), who first demonstrated a reduction in blood volume in experimental shock, first used serum experimentally and reported its effect upon blood pressure to be equal to whole blood (175). As a result of clinical investigation during World War I little benefit was attributed to saline solutions (the amounts used were small) and the emphasis was centered upon colloid solutions. This was based on the transitory effects of electrolyte solutions on the circulation and upon the postulate of Starling (246, 247) on the important role of the plasma proteins in the transfer of fluids across capillary membranes.

1. Plasmapheresis experiments. While experimental production of circulatory collapse has been accomplished by water and NaCl deprivation (50, 64, 65), evidence that removal of plasma proteins will bring about shock is meager. Plasmapheresis experiments have been referred to as evidence for the importance of plasma proteins in the causation of shock, but a review of these experiments indicates that this evidence is not conclusive. Abel, Rowntree and Turner (4) devised the procedure of plasmapheresis, whereby erythrocytes in Locke's solution were returned to the circulation by intravenous infusion at the same time and at approximately the same rate at which blood was being withdrawn from an artery. They found that during the course of a day as much as twice the blood volume could be exchanged in this manner without serious consequences. This was later confirmed by Whipple and colleagues (243) who were able with 3 to 7 exchanges within a day to reduce the plasma proteins of dogs to as low as 1.1 gram per cent without causing death. (Stanbury et al. (245) by employing gum acacia in the replacement fluid were able to reduce the plasma proteins to 0.1 per cent without death.) Whipple et al. (275) observed that very rapid exchanges with Locke's solution could produce collapse, and later by carrying out the total exchange in 5 to 15 minutes they obtained symptoms of shock in 11 of 13 dogs, with 4 deaths, when the exchange amounted to 102 to 195 per cent of the estimated blood volume; when dialyzed serum instead of Locke's solution was returned with the erythrocytes no deaths occurred in 4 dogs. Similar results were obtained by Warren and Harkins (266). The unusual speed of removal, the large volumes removed, and the survival of the majority of the animals under these conditions suggest that more definitive evidence is needed to assay the role of plasma proteins in the production of shock.

It would seem that some degree of circulatory collapse can be attributed to extremely large and rapid plasmapheresis, and likewise in hemorrhage without replacement therapy the rate of bleeding as well as the amount removed determines whether shock will supervene (63, 69).

It has been demonstrated that the protein content of the edema fluid in various forms of trauma approaches that of plasma (13, 17, 42, 133, 149, 223, 257, 284). Following the demonstration that the volume of this plasma-like fluid which accumulates in injured areas in fatal trauma can equal that of the total plasma volume (see section II, p. 494), modified plasmapheresis experiments were carried out to establish the amount of plasma loss which would produce death (120, 136, 212, 227). In all of these experiments, however, the centrifuged erythrocytes were returned to the circulation without replacement of the removed plasma with any other fluid; this procedure therefore represents fluid and electrolyte as well as protein depletion. Death was produced by removal in this manner of an amount of plasma equal to 2.6 to 4.4 per cent of the body weight (see section II, p. 495), and it was assumed that the protein loss was the most critical factor in bringing about the reduction in blood volume and circulatory collapse (118). While this view had some justification at that time, the more recent data on the quantitative aspects of fluid and electrolyte disturbances in relation to shock (50, 64, 65, 253) would indicate that the fluid and electrolyte losses incurred in these modified plasmapheresis experiments were an important factor in causing death. This is further borne out by therapeutic experiments described below, where protein administered in the absence of electrolytes are less effective than saline solutions (182, 232).

2. Behavior of administered plasma proteins in normal and shocked animals. Recent work on the distribution of administered plasma proteins in the normal animal indicates that they equilibrate with the extracellular fluids and lymph with considerable rapidity. While Whipple and coworkers (80) demonstrated a dynamic equilibrium between plasma proteins and tissue proteins, the concept of a considerable degree of permeability of the normal capillary walls to plasma proteins had few supporters (58). The recent work of Wasserman and Mayerson (268), of Abdou *et al.* (1, 2, 3) and of Forker *et al.* (82) revealed that intravenously injected protein (labeled) attains concentrations in the lymph equal to those in plasma within 7 to 13 hours, indicating that every 20 hours the entire plasma albumin circulates through the extracellular spaces and lymph (268). Dextran solutions behaved similarly to plasma albumin (111, 270). Earlier observations on the rate of disappearance from the blood of infused plasma proteins (and fluid) in normal and shocked animals and man are consistent with these findings This has been determined either by isotopic labelling (41, 77, 97, 271) or by blood volume, hematocrit and plasma protein determination (20, 90, 176, 208, 226, 243). A novel finding that fluorescent dye-labeled albumin can be demonstrated intracellularly has been recently reported by Gitlin et al. (98).

The equilibration time of proteins between the vascular and extravascular fluids has been found to be prolonged following hemorrhage (272) or intestinal manipulation (80). However the quantitative aspects of this delay have not

been adequately established. Ravdin *et al.* (218) reviewed the recent evidence that the response of the blood volume to administered colloid solutions is more pronounced following hemorrhage than in normal subjects.

In normal man and animals Harroun *et al.* (122) and Calvin (31) presented evidence that saline infusions mobilize proteins from cellular sources but Wasserman and Mayerson (269) showed that this was a mobilization of "plasma" proteins from the extravascular spaces. This is pertinent to the older concept that saline infusions cause a "loss" of plasma proteins into the tissues, but the significance of this must be reevaluated in the light of the normally existing rapid circulation of these proteins.

Likewise, the older views on the role of the plasma proteins in the maintenance of plasma volume through their colloid-osmotic pressure were predicated on a relative impermeability of the capillary membrane to proteins. It would now seem that these views must be modified to encompass the extravascular circulation of the plasma proteins.

Plasma proteins labeled isotopically have been found to rapidly accumulate in the areas of injury, but no abnormal penetration into uninjured tissues has been found; this lends further support to the absence of generalized increased capillary permeability in shock (16, 41, 75, 77, 154, 180).

Electrophoretic analyses of the sera of injured animals indicated that the concentration of albumin is decreased while α - and β -globulins are increased (99, 100, 101, 162, 187, 209, 274). Similar analyses of extracts of injured tissues showed increases of the serum albumin component (187, 188, 284).

Following the demonstration that saline solutions administered in traumatic shock rapidly leave the blood stream and accumulate almost quantitatively in the injured area (200, 255), the behavior of infused protein solutions was studied because of the existing evidence that they remain longer in the blood stream. This was accomplished by measuring the rate of local fluid accumulation following the administration of plasma (183) and by measuring the distribution of I¹³¹ labeled (154) or S³⁵ labeled (180) plasma proteins in shocked mice. When administered early in the course of shock, before swelling has reached a maximum, no retarding effect of homologous plasma proteins on the escape of fluids into the injured area was demonstrable. Approximately three-fourths of the administered fluid accumulated in the traumatized areas following the injection of plasma or of saline solutions (255). Likewise, more than three-fourths of the administered (S³⁵ labeled) plasma proteins could be recovered in the injured area $2\frac{1}{2}$ hours after administration (180). This is further confirmation of the plasma-like nature of the edema fluid; it also explains the transitory effects of plasma, administered under these conditions, on the restoration of blood volume (183).

From these data it is indicated that administration of plasma proteins does not significantly retard the escape of therapeutic fluids into the injured areas. Until a beneficial effect of the local accumulation of these proteins is established, it would seem illogical to employ plasma alone in the large amounts that would be required to meet the needs of local swelling, and to correct the dehydration

of the uninjured tissues. The supplemental use of large volumes of saline solution for these purposes is afforded a rational basis from the experimental evidence.

3. Static nature of plasma proteins accumulated in traumatized areas. The degree to which the proteins and electrolytes of the edema fluids participate in the general extravascular circulation was investigated by Millican (180) by injecting S²⁵ labeled plasma to tourniquet shocked mice (adequately treated with saline) after the swelling had reached a maximum (3 hours). In contrast to experiments where labeled plasma was injected prior to the swelling (where rapid local accumulation occurred) equilibration was quite slow and did not reach completion in 18 hours. This indicates the sluggish character of the pool. Equilibration of Na²² administered in this way required only 1 to 2 hours, indicating that the pool is accessible to easily diffusible small molecules. These results suggest that the hemodynamic response to plasma therapy may vary with the time after injury, and they may explain the superiority of plasma administered over a prolonged period of time (see section VI, p. 507).

The results of Glenn, Muus and Drinker (103) and Cope *et al.* (42) are of interest in this connection; they found large increases above normal in the volume and protein content of lymph from the burned extremities of calves or dogs one to three hours after burn trauma. At later intervals the flow returned to a low level. This is consistent with a period of rapid local accumulation of fluid and protein, followed by a period of sealing off.

4. Plasma protein levels in shock. A review will be made of the plasma protein changes that occur in the various forms of shock, the changes that occur following therapy, and the relationship of these changes to mortality.

Beard, Blalock, *et al.* (18, 19) observed that in animals in shock saline therapy produced small increases in blood volume, minimal and transitory hemodynamic responses, and a marked lowering of the plasma protein concentration. These effects were considered harmful since the lower colloid osmotic pressure resulting from the reduced plasma protein concentration would increase the permeability of the capillaries to their contents. They were supported in their view by Starling's (246, 247) earlier observations of the role of the colloid osmotic pressure of the plasma proteins, and the observations of Leiter (157) and Darrow *et al.* (49) that generalized edema results from plasma protein levels below 3 g. per cent (also see Harkins (118) for review). Although the concept of an adverse effect of low plasma protein levels in shock has been accepted by many workers, the experimental data on this point are contradictory.

a. Plasma proteins in hemorrhage. In untreated hemorrhage the plasma protein level falls as a result of protein depletion and of the transfer of fluid from the tissues to the vascular system (5, 32, 63, 74). However, the magnitude of this fall is small compared to that observed after plasmapheresis. Following severe hemorrhage in dogs plasma protein levels decreased from 5.8-6.1 g. per cent to 5-5.5 g. per cent (19, 211, 262), or from 4.8 to 3.98 g. per cent (162). No difference was noted between survivors and nonsurvivors (262). The duration of the acute hypoproteinemia is 6 hrs. or longer and the A/G ratio is unaffected (66, 162). Within 24 hrs. of bleeding the rate of globulin replacement exceeds that of albumin (68, 162, 171). Plasma protein levels of 4.1 g. per cent were observed in shock produced by single rapid bleeding of half the blood volume, while levels of 4.4 g. per cent were found in more prolonged hemorrhage where shock did not occur (63).

b. Plasma proteins following therapy in hemorrhage. Experiments are in agreement that plasma proteins are restored to values approaching normal when replacement therapy of whole blood or plasma is used, while values of 3.4 to 3.8 g. per cent were obtained after saline therapy in dogs (9, 160, 170, 203, 220).

When a comparison is made between plasma protein levels and effectiveness of therapy, the results are contradictory (see therapy in acute hemorrhagic death and in hemorrhagic shock, section VI C). Thus Levinson *et al.* (160) found saline ineffective while Parkins *et al.* (203) and Reynolds (220) found it effective in their experiments. McKee *et al.* (170) obtained survivals of 73, 100 and 20 per cent from plasma, erythrocytes in saline and saline respectively, while the corresponding plasma protein levels 3 hours after replacement were 5.5, 3.5, and 3.4 g. per cent.

c. Plasma proteins in burns. In burns in dogs plasma protein levels decreased (163) or remained unchanged (21, 141); in burns of small area they rose slightly in dogs (209), and decreased in calves (103). The albumin concentration and the A/G ratio of the plasma decreased. In the lymph collected from the burned area, the protein concentration increased and the A/G ratio approached the plasma ratio (42, 103, 209). These findings suggested that albumin leaves the plasma at a faster rate than globulin.

d. Plasma proteins after therapy in burns. In burned dogs Dunphy and Gibson (61) and Berman et al. (21) reported the plasma protein level was sustained after plasma and reduced after saline. In burn shocked mice protein levels afforded no index of survival (183). Without treatment the average plasma protein levels rose from a control value of 5.2 g. per cent to 7.5 g. per cent. Treatment with whole blood, plasma or serum albumin in saline did not influence this elevation while saline reduced the level to 4 to 4.5 g. per cent. With the volumes employed (5 per cent of body weight) approximately similar survivals were obtained from all of these forms of treatment. With 10 per cent of body weight of saline, plasma protein levels of 3.5 g. per cent were obtained although the survivals were increased. In contrast, plasma protein levels of 6.5 g. per cent were observed following serum albumin in glucose, although this therapy was ineffective upon survival (182) (see section VI B 2, p. 507).

e. Plasma proteins in muscle trauma. Following muscle trauma in dogs without treatment, plasma protein levels remained unchanged or increased slightly (18, 19, 80, 109, 147, 222, 223, 249, 250, 251). No difference was noted in the levels of survivors and nonsurvivors (222, 223). After plasma treatment plasma protein levels were unchanged (113, 147, 249). After saline administration plasma proteins were 5.9 g. per cent (147); 3.7 to 5.7 g. per cent (18, 19); and in another report they were 5.5 g. per cent in survivors and 4.6 g. per cent in nonsurvivors (113).

In rats 3 hrs. following tourniquet injury total protein, albumin and globulin

concentrations were unchanged from normals (149, 273, 274). After tourniquet injury in rabbits plasma protein levels decreased from 6.05 per cent to 4.99 g. per cent. Albumin decreased to a greater extent than globulin (274).

Warren, Merrill and Stead (267) suggested that in certain pathological states, *i.e.*, nephrosis, when plasma protein levels are reduced to 3 g. per cent plasma volume is maintained by means of an increased extracellular fluid space. The reduced plasma volume accompanying tourniquet shock in dogs was restored to pre-trauma levels by expanding the extracellular fluid space with massive saline infusions (50 to 100 per cent of body weight). Plasma protein levels after these large infusion volumes were 2.8 g. per cent (pre-shock values, 6.1 g. per cent), and all animals survived.

From the foregoing it is apparent that (a) plasma proteins fall moderately after hemorrhage but show no consistent changes in burn or tourniquet shock. (b) The level of plasma proteins show no correlation with survival; this is particularly true after therapy, where the variations produced bear no relation to effectiveness. (c) Low plasma proteins follow administration of large quantities of saline (d) the evidence does not support the view that decreases in plasma proteins observed in shock are deleterious to the outcome.

VI. EVALUATION OF COLLOIDS, SODIUM AND FLUID IN THE THERAPY OF SHOCK IN EXPERIMENTAL ANIMALS

The proper use of replacement therapy in shock requires a knowledge of the magnitude of the disturbance, which for fluid and electrolytes was not well defined until recently. It also involves problems of evaluation which have been outlined at the beginning of this review, and to which scant attention was paid in the earlier work.

Based upon the measurable fluid accumulation that occurs at the site of injury in untreated traumatic shock, fluid therapy approaching 5 per cent of body weight was until a few years ago considered adequate, and was rarely exceeded in laboratory or clinical trials. Prior to 1940 (for review see Harkins (118)) the experimental evidence with few exceptions (6, 127) as well as clinical experience, favored the use of blood, plasma, or other colloid preparations, while electrolyte solutions were considered of slight value or actually harmful.

Extensive reviews of the earlier literature have been compiled by Cannon (36), Blalock (24), Harkins (118), and this summary will include chiefly the experimental work since 1940.

A. Evaluation of therapy in shock resulting from local trauma

1. Muscle trauma in dogs by tourniquets. With tourniquet application (for 5 hours) fatal to the majority of untreated dogs, plasma or other colloid therapy in amounts of 4 to 6 per cent of body weight prevented death in 70 to 92 per cent of the dogs, while saline therapy (including sodium succinate) prevented death in 33 to 80 per cent (76, 117, 194, 195). Swingle *et al.* (147, 249) found single infusions of plasma (3.3 per cent of body weight) less effective (20 per cent survival) than infusion over 7 hours (77 per cent survival); a single infusion

of saline effected 58 per cent survival. Allen (6, 7) was an early advocate of large volumes of saline therapy but his reports include no comparative mortality data (see tourniquet shock, rats). Scott *et al.* (237), with a modified tourniquet technique, found equal effectiveness (50 to 70 per cent survival) with saline and various colloid solutions in amounts of 2.5 per cent of body weight. Local application of casts or other restrictive measures (60, 138, 150, 194, 240, 249) or cooling of the injured areas (6, 25, 240) was found to bring about a significant reduction in mortality; this is most likely due to the decrease in local swelling. Ashworth and Haist (14) found no benefit from application of casts to rats after swelling had reached a maximum, but it cannot be excluded that some further swelling occurred above the area of restriction.

2. Other forms of local trauma in dogs. With venous occlusion to the hind limbs of dogs Katz et al. (139, 177) found an average survival of 61 per cent in 3 series of experiments with the use of saline, while glucose was ineffective. With a Blalock press to the extremities Swingle et al. (250) obtained 70 per cent survival from prolonged administration of plasma or gelatin (4 per cent of body weight), 39 per cent from saline, and 9 per cent from gelatin given in a single infusion. In shock produced by gunshot wounds the same authors (251) obtained by the prolonged administration (3.3 per cent of body weight), 73 per cent survival from plasma, 62 per cent from gelatin and 50 per cent from saline. Trauma by dropping weights on the thighs was used by Guttman et al. (113). Serum (2.5 per cent of body weight) was much more effective than saline in prolonging survival time.

Winkler *et al.* (283) studied the effects of colloid and saline therapy upon the circulatory collapse which results from acute salt depletion in dogs. Plasma proteins were more efficacious than saline in hemodynamic responses, as shown by the use of serum or dialized serum. However saline solutions restored the circulation to normal in 2 hours, and brought about a return to the blood stream of proteins that had disappeared during salt depletion. Glucose solutions intravenously had little effect (48).

3. Muscle trauma in rats and mice. Allen (6) first employed tourniquet application to the extremities of rats and found that plasma, whole blood or saline would prevent death if administered early after tourniquet release, but only saline was effective at later stages. Dextrose was not effective. The importance of tissue dehydration was emphasized. He pointed out the limitations of therapy where more than a lethal amount of trauma was used, and also the influence of environmental temperature upon survival. Details of his experimental data were not submitted. Millican, Tabor and Rosenthal (182, 231) standardized tourniquet shock in mice, and with one MLD of trauma obtained 40–50 per cent survival with 5 per cent of body weight of saline, 77 per cent survival from 10 per cent of body weight and 91 to 98 per cent from 15 per cent of body weight. No significant differences were found between oral and parenteral administration.

This effect is characteristic of the sodium ion, since various sodium salts were equally effective, while related cations, potassium, rubidium, lithium and cesium were either inactive or of increased toxicity for the shocked animal (125, 177, 253). In simultaneous comparisons plasma (5 per cent of body weight) was equal to saline when administered in a single dose, but 50 per cent more effective when given over a 7 hour period. No difference in survival was found between equivalent doses of plasma and whole blood.

The efficacy of large volumes of saline in traumatic shock in small animals (see also burn shock and hemorrhage) was confirmed by Locke (164), Green and Stoner (107), Harkins (119) and Gray *et al.* (105). These findings were instrumental in the reintroduction into clinical use of large volumes of electrolyte solution, particularly by oral administration, in the treatment of various forms of shock.

B. Evaluation of therapy in experimental burn shock

1. Burn shock in dogs. The difficulty in obtaining standardized fatal burn shock in dogs, particularly in the absence of prolonged anesthesia (see section I 3, p. 491), is perhaps reflected in the paucity of experiments with this species. Parkins *et al.* (203) obtained survival of 3 of 4 dogs with plasma and 2 of 5 with saline (9 per cent of body weight). Moyer *et al.* (192) suggested that dogs without removal of the hair were more susceptible, and compared various agents on survival time. Electrolyte solutions and serum were less effective than whole blood plus electrolyte solutions. Berman *et al.* (21) obtained prolongation of survival time by injection of saline solutions into the burned areas. Application of plaster casts or restrictive bandaging has been found to favorably influence the course of burn shock, similarly to the results in muscle trauma (34, 35, 221).

2. Burn shock in small animals. a. Mice. Rosenthal, Tabor and Millican standardized burn shock in mice (192, 230) and obtained results similar to those in tourniquet shock. Fifteen per cent body weight of isotonic sodium solutions brought about survival of 92 per cent of the animals (916 mice). When the same total amounts of sodium were employed, isotonic solutions were superior to hypotonic or hypertonic; mouse plasma and saline were equal in survival response when administered in 1 or 2 doses, but plasma was 50 per cent superior with prolonged administration; water and 5 per cent glucose solutions were relatively ineffective; albumin or other colloids in glucose solutions (without Na⁺) brought about acute circulatory responses similar to plasma, but their effects upon 24 hour survival were slight; saline (10 per cent of body weight) was effective when therapy was withheld for 6 hours after trauma, at a time when 25 per cent of the untreated animals were dead. No differences were observed in survival between whole blood and plasma, either with rapid or prolonged administration.

Prinzmetal *et al.* (213) (independently) and Hazán and Treadwell (124), Cullumbine (46), Neal *et al.* (198) and Reichman *et al.* (219) likewise reported the favorable effects of saline upon burn shock in mice and rats. Prinzmetal *et al.* (125) also obtained equal survival responses from plasma and saline administered in one dose to burned mice. Millican (181) found that plasma is as effective by intraperitoneal injection as by prolonged intravenous injection, in mice subjected to burn shock. This route of administration was suggested by the observation of Courtice and Steinbeck (44) that homologous plasma is effectively absorbed into the blood stream, via the lymphatics, when introduced into the peritoneum of normal animals.

b. Rats. McCarthy et al. (167, 169) have done extensive evaluation studies upon burned rats. Plasma, other colloids in saline, and saline were equally effective when given shortly after the trauma. Eighty-six per cent survival was obtained with 10 per cent of body weight; where equal volumes of solution were administered, 1.4 per cent NaCl was more effective than 0.9 per cent; with an ingenious method of continuous infusion for 10 hours, survivals of 100 per cent at 24 hours were obtained with blood, plasma, and saline mixtures (18 per cent of body weight) as compared to approximately 50 per cent with sodium solutions with or without plasma (166).

C. Evaluation of therapy in hemorrhage and hemorrhagic shock

Although the line of demarcation is not sharp, attempts have been made to differentiate the condition produced by a single, massive hemorrhage from that produced by smaller bleedings repeated over a period of hours, and associated with prolonged hypotension. The hypotension following massive hemorrhage in dogs may result in delayed death similar to graded hemorrhage (135, 263), but some workers have encountered difficulties in standardizing this procedure (104, 160). In mice and rats massive hemorrhage results in either acute death or rapid recovery (235, 252). Both types of hemorrhage are distinguished from other forms of trauma by the diminished red cell mass and resultant impaired oxygen carrying capacity of the blood; this affords an additional source of tissue anoxia, and is reflected in the efficacy of erythrocytes in the replacement therapy of hemorrhage, generally confirmed by most observers.

1. Therapy against acute hemorrhagic death. a. Dogs. Massive exsanguination followed by immediate reinfusion of a volume of therapy equal to the blood withdrawn (3.8 to 7.4 per cent of body weight) was carried out in a large series of dogs by Ivy et al. (135). Heparinized plasma gave 96 per cent survival, serum 74 per cent, and saline 42 per cent. Almost identical results were obtained by Gropper et al. (110). Whole blood was not used in these comparisons. McKee et al. (170) obtained 100 per cent survival with red cells suspended in saline, 73 per cent with plasma, and 20 per cent with saline (4.4 to 5.5 per cent of body weight). Parkins et al. (115, 203, 204, 205) obtained 100 per cent survival with blood, colloid solutions in saline, and saline (4 to 6 per cent of body weight). Govier and Colovos (104) with a modified method obtained 25 per cent survival with plasma or gelatin and 6 per cent with saline (9 to 10 per cent of body weight). Reynolds (220), using Walcott's procedure (263), obtained 86 per cent survival with saline (in volumes of 18 per cent of body weight), while Allison et al. (9) report 62 per cent survival with blood, 81 per cent with plasma and no survivals with saline (3 to 4 per cent of body weight).

b. Cats. Buttle and Kekwick (29) reported 100 per cent survival with whole blood or plasma (2.5 to 3 per cent of body weight) and no survival with saline.
c. Guinea-pigs. Morrison et al. (191) obtained the following survivals with therapy of 1 per cent of body weight: whole blood and serum albumin, 100 per

cent; plasma "substitutes", 50 to 80 per cent; saline, 10 per cent.

d. Mice and rats. Techniques for the production of acute hemorrhagic death in large numbers of mice, bled simultaneously, were developed by Tabor *et al.* (252). With one MLD of hemorrhage (5 per cent of body weight of blood loss) plasma or saline in one dose (3 to 5 per cent of body weight) were equally effective. Whole blood and red cells in saline also gave equal responses, which were two to three times as effective as plasma or saline. With large amounts of saline (8 to 19 per cent of body weight) 77 per cent survival was obtained. Water or isotonic KCl had little or no effect. Sayers *et al.* (235) standardized hemorrhagic death in rats by bleeding from the tail for 1 hour. Evaluation of therapy at various dosage levels gave results somewhat comparable to those described above for mice (252). Survival Dose₅₀ computed as per cent of body weight of therapy was as follows: whole blood 1.2, plasma 1.6, red cells in saline 2.3 and saline 3.9.

2. Hemorrhagic shock. a. Dogs. Several methods have been developed, based on bleeding in multiple stages (104, 160, 254) or upon maintaining a constant hypotension by means of a reservoir bottle (148, 151). The difficulty of obtaining standardized hemorrhagic shock in dogs is brought out by Glasser and Page in a study upon 244 dogs (102).

Magladery et al. (172) obtained equal survival (66 per cent) with whole blood and serum, when 40 per cent of the volume of hemorrhage was replaced. Levinson et al. (160, 199) obtained 75 to 100 per cent survival with both blood and serum, with 60 to 100 per cent replacement, and no survival from saline. Parkins et al. (115, 205) found 100 per cent survival from heparinized blood or colloid solutions and 40 per cent from saline (4 to 6 per cent of body weight) while in another report (204) saline (12 to 18 per cent of body weight) produced 60 per cent survivors. Morrison et al. (191), employing a bleeding volume index, listed the following order of effectiveness of therapy: whole blood, plasma, dextran, periston, saline. Govier and Colovos (104) and Hartman and Behrmann (123) obtained 60 to 100 per cent survival with colloid solutions and 0 to 6 per cent with saline (8 to 9 per cent of body weight). Dworkin (62) found that the effectiveness of saline was influenced by the duration of hypotension that preceded therapy. Sodium and glucose solutions, used as supplements to whole blood replacement in the later stages of hemorrhage shock, were found to have some beneficial effect on survival by Wiggers and Ingraham (277) and Levine et al. (159), but not by Frank et al. (87) or Nastuk and Beatty (196).

b. Rabbits. Raiz and Pulaski (216) with replacement equal to the blood withdrawn (3 per cent of body weight) obtained the following survivals: plasma 88 per cent, oxypolygelatin 94 per cent, dextran 80 per cent, and saline 50 per cent.

c. Rats. Sayers et al. (235) in hemorrhagic shock in rats obtained 100 per cent survival with whole blood (5 per cent of body weight) and 83 per cent with saline (10 per cent of body weight).

D. Comments on evaluation of therapy

From this review of the large and conflicting experimental evidence that has accumulated during the past 15 years, it is difficult to arrive at a clear evaluation of the relative merits of colloids, fluids, and electrolytes in the treatment of shock. Although much progress has been made in the satisfactory standardization of trauma, much of the work falls short in other aspects of standardization previously outlined, particularly in respect to adequate numbers. The complicating factor of bacterial infection that occurs in prolonged tourniquet (89, 210, 224, 249, 279) or hemorrhagic shock $(79)^3$ in dogs may have considerable influence upon these evaluations, but this influence cannot be appraised with the evidence at hand. There is no clear evidence at present of a similar complication in other species.

In general the experimental work on evaluation supports the following conclusions:

Whole blood, plasma or other suitable colloids bring about a more pronounced and more sustained circulatory response than electrolyte solutions; they are more effective in combating the circulatory collapse of shock but in the amounts employed may be inadequate to correct the fluid and electrolyte disturbances.

Whole blood is the most effective therapy for severe hemorrhage. The superiority of whole blood over protein or other colloid solutions in shock not due to hemorrhage has not been demonstrated conclusively in experimental animals, although widely used clinically.

Plasma and related solutions are more effective than equal volumes of saline, particularly when administered over a period of hours. Within certain limitations larger volumes of saline can replace or reduce the need for colloid therapy.

The experimental evidence indicates that water and sodium free glucose solutions are distinctly inferior to saline in shock, while potassium solutions are toxic.

VII. GENERAL DISCUSSION

It would seem that one of the basic mechanisms of shock produced by trauma is the capacity of the injured tissues to swell, and the swelling may proceed to a depletion of fluid, electrolytes and proteins incompatible with life. This capacity to swell takes prior claim on administered therapy and most of it will accumulate in the injured area. It has been shown that the use of protein solutions will not lessen this swelling. Until remedies have been found (other than local cooling or other restrictive measures) which will curtail this swelling, the basis of "replacement" therapy must be (a) to satisfy this capacity to swell, and at the same time (b) to correct the depletions of fluids, electrolytes and proteins that has occurred in the undamaged tissues, and (c) to restore blood volume.

There are many other biochemical and physiological changes that occur in shock, and it is not intended to assign to fluids, electrolytes, and proteins an exclusive role in the etiology of shock. However, their importance rests on the evidence that circulatory collapse in normal animals can be produced by changes of similar magnitude to those observed in shock, and by the fact that administration of fluids, electrolytes and proteins can under certain conditions prevent the fatal outcome of shock.

³ Beck, L., Vivaldi, E. and Nickerson, M. have been unable to confirm the effectiveness of antibiotics on survival of dogs in hemorrhagic shock. (Presented at meetings of Am. Society for Pharmacology, September, 1954.) The individual role of fluids, electrolytes or proteins is more difficult to evaluate, since the changes occur simultaneously and their effects are interrelated. On a basis of depletion experiments in normal animals, circulatory collapse can be produced more readily by acute sodium deficiency than by fluid depletion alone. The available evidence indicates that a similar state can be produced by plasma protein removal (plasmapheresis) only if the depletion is very rapid and more extensive than usually present in shock. But when all three of them are removed simultaneously, as in plasma removal, circulatory collapse and death results from less extensive depletion of each factor.

The evidence from therapeutic experiments indicates that plasma proteins (or other colloids) play an important role in restoring the impaired circulation, but the addition of adequate fluid and electrolyte therapy is essential for optimum survival. Under experimental conditions the administration of large quantities of isotonic sodium solutions can reduce, and in certain instances replace the need for colloid therapy in bringing about survival. This effect can be obtained by oral as well as parenteral administration, and occurs even though early hemodynamic responses are considerably less marked than with plasma.

Potassium release has been implicated as a possible factor in the terminal phases of traumatic shock, but further investigation is required to evaluate its role in the development or fatal outcome of shock. The present evidence indicates that potassium is not an important factor in the development of shock.

An objective of future research should be to extend the effectiveness of therapeutic measures beyond the present limitations of one lethal degree of trauma.

Available evidence is not adequate to evaluate the role of plasma protein derangements in the causation of shock, nor can all phenomena of shock be explained on a basis of fluid and electrolyte disturbances.

REFERENCES

- 1. ABDOU, I. A. AND TABVER, H.: Plasma protein. I. Loss from circulation and catabolism to carbon dioxide. J. Biol. Chem., 190: 769-780, 1951.
- ABDOU, I. A. AND TARVER, H.: Plasma protein. II. Relationship between circulating and tissue protein. J. Biol. Chem., 199: 781-790, 1951.
- 3. ABDOU, I. A., REINHARDT, W. O. AND TARVER, H.: Plasma protein. III. The equilibrium between blood and lymph protein. J. Biol. Chem., 194: 15-23, 1952.
- ABEL, J. J., ROWNTREE, L. G. AND TURNER, B. B.: Plasma removal with return of corpuscles (plasmaphaeresis). J. Pharmacol. & Exper. Therap., 5: 625-641, 1914.
- ADOLPH, E. F., GERBASI, M. J. AND LEPORE, M. J.: The rate of entrance of fluid into the blood in hemorrhage. Am. J. Physiol., 104: 502-517, 1933.
- 6. ALLEN, F. M.: Physical and toxic factors in shock. A. M. A. Arch. Surg., 38: 155-180, 1939.
- 7. ALLEN, F. M.: Theory and therapy of shock. Excessive fluid administration. Am. J. Surg., 61: 79-92, 1943.
- ALLISON, J. B., COLE, W. H., HOLMES, J. H. AND ROOT, W. S.: The effect of hemorrhage and muscle trauma upon the blood phosphate of dogs. Am. J. Physiol., 149: 422-428, 1947.
- ALLISON, J. B., COLE, W. H., WALCOTT, W. W., GELFAN, S., ROOT, W. S. AND GREGERSEN, M. I.: Objective evaluation of transfusion therapy in hemorrhagic shock. Am. J. Physiol., 156: 191-201, 1949.
- ANTOS, R. J., DWORKIN, R. M. AND GREEN, H. D.: Shock associated with deep muscle burns. Proc. Soc. Exper. Biol. & Med., 57: 11-13, 1944.
- ARIMOTO, F., NECHELES, H., LEVINSON, S. O. AND JANOTA, M.: Hemorrhagic shock: A method for its production and formula for prognosis. Am. J. Physiol., 143: 198-205, 1945.
- ASHWORTH, C. T. AND KREGEL, L. A.: Changes in the body water partition and extracellular electrolytes in shock. A. M. A. Arch. Surg., 44: 829-839, 1942.
- ASHWORTH, C. T., JESTER, A. W. AND GUY, E. L.: LOCAL loss of fluid and protein in experimental shock: Relation to decrease of plasma volume and total circulating protein. Am. J. Physiol., 141: 571-574, 1944.
- ASHWORTH, M. A. AND HAIST, R. E.: Fluid loss and "toxic" factor in secondary shock. Rev. Canad. de biol., 6: 172-173, 1947.

- BAETJER, A. M.: The diffusion of potassium from resting skeletal muscles following a reduction in blood supply. Am. J. Physiol., 112: 139-146, 1935.
- BARATZ, R. A. AND INGRAHAM, R. C.: Capillary permeability during hemorrhagic shock in the rat. Fed. Proc., 13: 7, 1954.
- BEARD, J. W. AND BLALOCK, A.: Experimental shock. VIII. The composition of the fluid that escapes from the blood stream after mild trauma to an extremity, after trauma to the intestines, and after burns. A. M. A. Arch. Surg., 22: 617-625, 1931.
- BEARD, J. W. AND BLALOCK, A.: Intravenous injections. A study of the composition of the blood during continuous trauma to the intestines when no fluid is injected and when fluid is injected continuously. J. Clin. Invest., 11: 249-265, 1932.
- 19. BEARD, J. W., WILSON, H., WEINSTEIN, B. M. AND BLALOCK, A.: A study of the effects of hemorrhage, trauma, histamine and spinal anesthesia on the composition of the blood when no fluids are injected and when fluids are injected intravenously. J. Clin. Invest., 11: 291-309, 1932.
- BEATTIE, J.: Changes in hemoglobin concentration and plasma specific gravity following plasma transfusion. Brit. M. J., I: 459-461, 1942.
- BERMAN, J. K., PETERSON, L. AND BUTLER, J.: The treatment of burn shock with continuous hypodermoclysis of physiological saline solution into the burned area. An experimental study. Surg., Gynec. & Obst., 78: 337-345, 1944.
- BLALOCK, A.: Experimental shock VI. The probable cause for the reduction in the blood pressure following mild trauma to an extremity. A. M. A. Arch. Surg., 22: 598-609, 1931.
- BLALOCK, A.: Experimental shock VII. The importance of the local loss of fluid in the production of the low blood pressure after burns. A. M. A. Arch. Surg., 22: 610-616, 1931.
- 24. BLALOCK, A.: Principles of surgical care. Shock and other problems. C. V. Mosby Co., St. Louis, 1940.
- BLALOCK, A. AND DUNCAN, G. W.: Traumatic shock—a consideration of several types of injuries. Surg., Gynec. & Obst., 75: 401-409, 1942.
- BOULANGER, P., DRIESSENS, J., PIVETTE, P. AND DUPRÉ, M.: Variations du potassium et du sodium plasmatiques et globulares dans le choc traumatique expérimental chez le chien. Compt. rend. Soc. biol., 139: 1104-1106, 1945.
- 27. BRAGAGNOLO, G.: Variazioni del potassio ematico negli ustionati. Med. Sper., 18: 3-12, 1947.
- BRUES, A. M., COHN, W. E., KETY, S. S., NATHANSON, I. I., NUTT, A. L., TIBBETTS, D. M., ZAMECNIK, P. C. AND AUB, J. C.: The toxic factors in experimental traumatic shock II. Studies on electrolyte and water balance in shock. J. Clin. Invest., 24: 835-838, 1945.
- 29. BUTTLE, G. A. H. AND KERWICK, A.: Blood substitutes in treatment of acute hemorrhage. Lancet, 239: 507-511, 1940.
- 30. CALVI, L.: Cause ed effetti della mobilizzazione del potassio negli stati di shock. Atti Soc. lombarda Sci. Med. biol., 7: 226-229, 1952.
- CALVIN, D. B.: Changes in albumin: globulin ratios following intravenous saline injections. Am. J. Physiol., 129: 327-328, 1940.
- CALVIN, D. B.: Plasma volume and plasma protein concentration after severe hemorrhage. J. Lab. & Clin. Med., 26: 1144-1148, 1941.
- CAMERON, G. R., BURGESS, F. AND TRENWITH, V.: An experimental study of some effects of acute anhydraemia. J. Path. & Bact., 58: 213-220, 1946.
- 34. CAMERON, G. R., ALLEN, J. W., COLES, R. F. G. AND RUTLAND, J. P.: A study of the effects of applying pressure to experimental thermal burns. J. Path. & Bact., 57: 37-46, 1945.
- 35. CAMEBON, G. R., ALLEN, J. W., COLES, R. F. G. AND RUTLAND, J. P.: Acceleration of healing by pressure application to experimental thermal burns. J. Path. & Bact., 58: 1-9, 1946.
- 36. CANNON, W. B.: Traumatic shock. D. Appleton and Co., N. Y., 1923.
- CANNON, W. B. AND BAYLISS, W. M.: Note on muscle injury in relation to shock: Report of Shock Committee, Medical Research Committee, No. 26, 19-23, 1919.
- CATTELL, MCK. AND CIVIN, H.: The influence of asphyxia and other factors on the serum potassium of cats. J. Biol. Chem., 126: 633-644, 1938.
- CICARDO, V. H.: Mechanismo del choque traumatico experimental. An. Cent. Invest. tisiol., B. Aires, 7: 291-308, 1943.
- 40. CLARE, A. P. W. AND CLEGHORN, R. A.: Chemical studies of tissue changes in adrenal insufficiency and traumatic shock. Endocrinology, 31: 597-606, 1942.
- COPE, O. AND MOORE, F. D.: A study of capillary permeability in experimental burns and burn shock using radioactive dyes in blood and lymph. J. Clin. Invest., 23: 241-257, 1944.
- COPE, O., GRAHAM, J. B., MOORE, F. D. AND BALL, M. R.: The nature of the shift of plasma protein to the extravascular space following thermal trauma. Ann. Surg., 128: 1041-1055, 1948.
- COPE, O., GBAHAM, J. B., MIXTER, G., JE. AND BALL, M. R.: Threshold of thermal trauma and influence of adrenal cortical and posterior pituitary extracts on the capillary and chemical changes. An experimental study. A. M. A. Arch. Surg., 59: 1015-1031, 1949.
- 44. COURTICE, F. C. AND STEINBECK, A. W.: The rate of absorption of heparinized plasma and of 0.9% NaCl from peritoneal cavity of rabbit and guinea pig. Australian J. Exper. Biol. & M. Sc., 28: 171-182, 1950.
- CULLEN, M. L. AND FREEMAN, N. E.: Technique for measuring of local fluid loss in experimental traumatic shock. Surgery, 10: 770-775, 1941.
- 46. CULLUMBINE, H.: The treatment of "shock" with sodium salt solutions. Brit. J. Pharmacol., 3: 72-74, 1948.

- 47. DANOWSKI, T. S., ELKINTON, J. R. AND WINKLER, A. W.: Movements of body water in response to acute blood loss. Am. J. Physiol., 147: 306-310, 1946.
- DANOWSKI, T. S., WINKLER, A. W. AND ELKINTON, J. R.: The treatment of shock due to salt depletion; comparison of the hemodynamic effects of isotonic saline, of hypertonic saline, and of isotonic glucose solutions. J. Clin. Invest., 25: 130-138, 1946.
- DARROW, D. C., HOPPER, E. B. AND CARY, M. K.: Plasmapheresis edema. I. The relation of reduction of serum proteins to edema and the pathological anatomy accompanying plasmapheresis. J. Clin. Invest., 11: 683-699, 1932.
- DARBOW, D. C. AND YANNET, H.: The changes in the distribution of body water accompanying increase and decrease in extracellular electrolyte. J. Clin. Invest., 14: 266-275, 1935.
- DARROW, D. C. AND ENGEL, F. L.: Liver water and electrolytes in hemorrhagic shock. Am. J. Physiol., 145: 32-37, 1945.
- DAVIDSON, E. C.: Sodium chloride metabolism in cutaneous burns and its possible significance for rational therapy. A. M. A. Arch. Surg., 13: 262-277, 1926.
- DAVIS, H. A.: Acute circulatory failure (shock) following subcutaneous injection of hypertonic sodium chloride solution. Proc. Soc. Exper. Biol. & Med., 43: 354-357; 357-359, 1940.
- 54. DAVIS, H. A.: Shock and allied forms of failure of the circulation. Grune and Stratton, New York, 1949.
- DELORME, E. J.: A quantitative method for measuring red cell content in vivo. Quart. J. Exper. Physiol., 38: 47-54, 1953.
- DENNIS, J. AND MOORE, R. M.: Potassium changes in the functioning heart under conditions of ischemia and of congestion. Am. J. Physiol., 123: 443-447, 1938.
- DENNIS, J. AND MULLIN, F. J.: Blood potassium changes as a result of partial asphyxia in dogs. Proc. Soc. Exper. Biol. & Med., 38: 560-561, 1938.
- 58. DRINKER, C. K.: Extravascular protein and the lymphatic system. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sc., 46: 807-818, 1946.
- DUBOIS-FERRIÈRE, H.: La toxémie traumatique. Experientia, 1: 94, 1945.
 DUNCAN, G. W. AND BLALOCK, A.: The uniform production of experimental shock by crush injury: possible relation to clinical crush syndrome. Ann. Surg., 115: 684-697, 1942.
- 61. DUNPHY, J. E. AND GIBSON, J. G., 2ND: Effect of replacement therapy in experimental shock. Surgery, 10: 108-118, 1941.
- 62. DWORKIN, R. M.: Effects of pectin and saline solutions on survival time of dogs in hemorrhagic hypotension. Proc. Soc. Exper. Biol. & Med., 56: 20-22, 1944.
- 63. EBERT, R. V., STEAD, E. A., JR., WARREN, J. V. AND WATTS, W. E.: Plasma protein replacement after hemorrhage in dogs with and without shock. Am. J. Physiol., 136: 299-305, 1942.
- ELKINTON, J. R., DANOWSKI, T. S. AND WINKLER, A. W.: Hemodynamic changes in salt depletion and dehydiation. J. Clin. Invest., 25: 120-129, 1946.
- ELENITON, J. R., WINKLER, A. W. AND DANOWSKI, T. S.: The importance of volume and of tonicity of the body fluids in salt depletion shock. J. Clin. Invest., 26: 1002-1009, 1947.
- ELMAN, R.: Acute hypoproteinemia following a single severe hemorrhage in the fasting dog. Am. J. Physiol., 128: 332-337, 1940.
- ELMAN, R. AND BROWN, F. L., JR.: Experimental burns. I. Methods, mortality and hemoconcentration curves. War Med., 3: 477-481, 1943.
- ELMAN, R., LISCHER, C. E. AND DAVEY, H. W.: Plasma proteins (albumin and globulin) and red cell volume following a single severe non-fatal hemorrhage. Am. J. Physiol., 138: 569-576, 1943.
- 69. ELMAN, R., LISCHER, C. AND DAVEY, H. W.: Red cell volume, plasma albumin and globulin in fatal surgical shock due to repeated hemorrhage. Am. J. Physiol., 149: 737-741, 1944.

70. ENGEL, F. L.: The significance of the metabolic changes during shock. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sc., 55: 381-392, 1952.

- ERLANGER, J. AND GASSER, H. S.: Studies in secondary traumatic shock: IV. Statistical study of the treatment of measured trauma with solutions of gum acacia and crystalloids. Am. J. Physiol., 59: 119-148, 1919.
- 72. FENN, W. O., WILDE, W. S., BOAK, R. A. AND KOENEMANN, R. H.: The effect of blood flow on potassium liberation from muscle. Am. J. Physiol., 128: 139-146, 1939.
- 73. FENN, W. O.: The rôle of potassium in physiological processes. Physiol. Rev., 20: 377-415, 1940.
- 74. FINE, J., FISCHMANN, J. AND FRANK, H. A.: The effect of adrenal cortical hormones in hemorrhage and shock. Surgery, 12: 1-13, 1942.
- 75. FINE, J. AND SELIGMAN, A. M.: Traumatic shock: IV. A study of the problem of the "lost plasma" in hemorrhagic shock by the use of radioactive plasma protein. J. Clin. Invest., 22: 285-303, 1943.
- 76. FINE, J., FRANK, H. A. AND SELIGMAN, A. M.: Traumatic shock. VIII. Studies in the therapy and hemodynamics of tourniquet shock. J. Clin. Invest., 23: 731-741, 1944.
- 77. FINE, J. AND SELIGMAN, A. M.: Traumatic shock VII. A study of the problem of the "lost plasma" in hemorrhagic, tourniquet, and burn shock by the use of radioactive iodo-plasma protein. J. Clin. Invest., 23: 720-730, 1944.
- 78. FINE, J., FRANK, H. A. AND SELIGMAN, A. M.: Traumatic shock incurable by volume replacement therapy. A summary of further studies including observations on the hemodynamics, intermediary metabolism and therapeutics of shock. Ann. Surg., 122: 652-662, 1945.
- 79. FINE, J., FRANK, H., SCHWEINBURG, F., JACOB, S. AND GORDON, T.: The bacterial factor in traumatic shock. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sc., 55: 429-437, 1952.
- FINE, R. M., ENNS, T., KIMBALL, C. P., SILBERSTEIN, H. E., BALE, W. E., MADDEN, S. C. AND WHIPPLE, G. H.: Plasma protein metabolism—normal and associated with shock. Observations using protein labeled by heavy nitrogen in lysine. J. Exper. Med., 80: 455-475, 1944.

- FOGELMAN, M. J., MONTGOMERT, P. O. AND MOYER, C. A.: Internal water exchange rates following hemorrhage in splenectomized dogs. Am. J. Physiol., 169: 94-101, 1952.
- FORKER, L. L., CHAIKOFF, I. L. AND REINHARDT, W. O.: Circulation of plasma proteins: their transport to lymph. J. Biol. Chem., 197: 625-636, 1952.
- FOX, C. L., JR. AND KESTON, A. S.: The mechanism of shock from burns and trauma traced with radiosodium. Surg., Gynec. & Obst., 89: 561-567, 1945.
- 84. FOX, C. L., JR., AND BAER, H.: Redistribution of potassium, sodium and water in burns and trauma, and its relation to the phenomena of shock. Am. J. Physiol., 151: 155-167, 1947.
- FOX, C. L., JR., MERSHEIMER, W. L., LASKER, S. AND WINFIELD, R. A.: Comparative experimental studies on the treatment of traumatic shock. Am. J. Surg., 85: 359-362, 1953.
- FOX, C. L., JE., LASKER, S. E. AND WINFIELD, J. M.: Electrolyte and water shifts in the entire animal after burn shock. Fed. Proc., 12: 45, 1953.
- FRANK, H. A., SELIGMAN, A. M. AND FINE, J.: Traumatic shock. X. The treatment of hemorrhagic shock irreversible to replacement of blood volume deficiency. J. Clin. Invest., 24: 435-444, 1945.
- 88. FRANK, H. A.: Present-day concepts of shock. New England J. Med., 249: 445-453; 486-493, 1953.
- FREED, S. C., KRUGER, H. E. AND PRINEMETAL, M.: Further studies on the role of bacteria in shock due to crushed muscle in dogs. Surgery, 16: 914-922, 1944.
- 90. FREEMAN, N. E. AND WALLACE, W. M.: The effect of concentrated serum on plasma volume and serum protein concentrations. Am. J. Physiol., 124: 791-799, 1938.
- FRIEDBERG, L. AND KATZ, L. N.: Observations on shock following bilateral venous occlusion of the hind limbs of the dog. Am. J. Physiol., 143: 589-593, 1945.
- FUHRMAN, F. A. AND CRIBMON, J. M.: Early changes in distribution of sodium, potassium and water in rabbit muscles following release of tourniquets. Am. J. Physiol., 166: 424-432, 1951.
- FUHRMAN, F. A. AND CRISMON, J. M.: Muscle electrolytes in rats following ischemia produced by tourniquets. Am. J. Physiol., 167: 289-297, 1951.
- 94. GAMBLE, J. L., ROSS, G. S. AND TISDALL, F. F.: The metabolism of fixed base during fasting. J. Biol. Chem., 57: 633-695, 1923.
- GELLHORN, A., MEERELL, M. AND RANKIN, R. M.: The rate of transcapillary exchange of sodium in normal and shocked dogs. Am. J. Physiol., 142: 407-427, 1944.
- 96. GILMAN, A.: Experimental sodium loss analogous to adrenal insufficiency: the resulting water shift and sensitivity to hemorrhage. Am. J. Physiol., 166: 662-669, 1934.
- GITLIN, D. AND JANEWAY, C. A.: Dynamic equilibrium between circulating and extravascular plasma proteins. Science, 118: 301-302, 1953.
- GITLIN, D., LANDING, B. H. AND WHIPPLE, A.: The localization of homologous plasma proteins in the tissues of young human beings as demonstrated with fluorescent antibodies. J. Exper. Med., 97: 163-176, 1953.
- 99. GJESSING, E. C. AND CHANUTIN, A.: Electrophoretic changes in the serum protein patterns of dogs subjected to various types of injury. Fed. Proc., 5: 135-136, 1946.
- GJESSING, E. C. AND CHANUTIN, A.: Fractionation studies of the serum proteins of control and injured goats. Fed. Proc., 6: 254-255, 1947.
- 101. GJESSING, E. C., LUDEWIG, S. AND CHANUTIN, A.: Fractionation, electrophoresis and chemical studies of proteins in sera of control and injured dogs. J. Biol. Chem., 176: 551-569, 1947.
- 102. GLASSER, O. AND PAGE, I. H.: Experimental hemorrhagic shock; a study of its production and treatment. Am. J. Physiol., 154: 297-315, 1948.
- 103. GLENN, W. W. L., MUUS, J. AND DRINKER, C. K.: Observations on the physiology and biochemistry of quantitative burns. J. Clin. Invest., 22: 451-460, 1943.
- 104. GOVIER, W. M. AND COLOVOS, G. C.: An animal survival method for the evaluation of agents designed to restore plasma volume. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sc., 55: 491-495, 1952.
- 105. GRAY, J. L., BOTKIN, A. L., MOULDEN, E. J. AND JENSEN, H.: Blood amino-acid level and adrenal cholesterol content during "tourniquet shock" in rat. Proc. Soc. Exper. Biol. & Med., 75: 189-191, 1950.
- 106. GREEN, H. D., DWORKIN, R. M., ANTOS, R. J. AND BERGERON, G. A.: Ischemic compression shock, with an analysis of local fluid loss. Am. J. Physiol.; 142: 494-507, 1944.
- 107. GREEN, H. N. AND STONER, H. B.: Biological actions of the adenine nucleotides. H. K. Lewis & Co., London, 1950.
- 108. GREGERSEN, M. I.: Shock. Ann. Rev. Physiol., 8: 335-354, 1946.
- 109. GREGERSEN, M. I. AND ROOT, W. S.: Experimental traumatic shock produced by muscle contusion with a note on the effects of bullet wounds. A study of the clinical signs of shock in the dog and the rôle of blood volume reduction in the development of the shock syndrome. Am. J. Physiol., 148: 98-123, 1947.
- GROPPER, A. L., COCKRELL, E. W., RAISZ, L. G. AND PULASKI, E. J.: A comparison of dextran and oxypolygelatin in the treatment of hemorrhagic hypotension. Am. J. Physiol., 169: 749-756, 1982.
- 111. GROTTE, G., KNUTSON, R. C. AND BOLLMAN, J. L.: The diffusion of dextrans of different molecular sizes to lymph and urine. J. Lab. & Clin. Med., 38: 577-582, 1951.
- 112. GUTMANN, H., KROLL, H. H., OLSON, W. H., LEVINSON, S. O. AND NECHELES, H.: Chemical studies in traumatic shock. War Med., 1: 824-829, 1941.
- 113. GUTMANN, H., OLSON, W. H., LEVINSON, S. O. AND NECHELES, H.: A study of the effects of isotonic serum and saline infusion following trauma in dogs. Am. J. Physiol., 137: 355-361, 1942.
- 114. HASTINGS, A. B. AND EICHELBERGER, L.: The exchange of salt and water between muscle and blood. I. The effect of an increase in total body water produced by intravenous injection of isotonic salt solutions. J. Biol. Chem., 117: 73-93, 1937.

- 115. HAMILTON, A. S., PARKINS, W. M. AND WALTZER, F.: A comparison of ten infusion fluids in the treatment of moderate and severe hemorrhage in animals. Am. J. Physiol., 150: 641-653, 1947.
- 116. HAMILTON, J. I. AND HAIST, R. E.: Studies on experimental shock in dogs. Canad. J. Res., Sec. E., 23: 89-103, 1945.
- 117. HAMILTON, J. I., HOAR, W. S. AND HAIST, R. E.: A comparison of the efficacy of different infusion media in shock. Canad. J. Res., Sec. E., 24: 31-35, 1946.
- 118. HARKINS, H. N.: Recent advances in the study and management of traumatic shock. Surgery, 9: 231-294; 447-482; 607-655, 1941.
- 118a. HARKINS, H. N.: The present status of the problem of thermal burns. Physiol. Rev., 25: 531-572, 1945.
- 119. HARKINS, H. N.: Sodium therapy of experimental tourniquet shock. Am. J. Physiol., 148: 538-546, 1947.
- HARKINS, H. N. AND HARMON, P. H.: Blood concentration produced by plasmapheresis. Surgery, 1: 276-281, 1937.
- 121. HARRIS, P. N. AND BLALOCK, A.: Experimental shock. X. Observations on the water content of the tissues of the body after trauma and after hemorrhage. A. M. A. Arch. Surg., 22: 638-648, 1931.
- 122. HARROUN, J. E., SMYTH, C. J. AND LEVEY, S.: Tissue protein studies in normal and undernourished males: the changes in total circulating protein after an intravenous saline infusion as an index of protein stores. J. Clin. Invest., 29: 212-217, 1950.
- 123. HARTMAN, F. W. AND BEHRMANN, V. G.: The present status of plasma expanders. J. A. M. A., 152: 1116-1120, 1953.
- 124. HAZÁN, S. J. AND TREADWELL, C. R.: Saline and methionine-saline effects on survival rate of rats receiving standardized burn shock. Proc. Soc. Exper. Biol. & Med., 68: 684-686, 1948.
- 125. HECHTER, O., BERGMAN, H. C. AND PRINZMETAL, M.: Comparison of the therapeutic effectiveness of serum and sodium chloride in scald shock. Am. Heart J., 29: 484-492, 1944.
- HOFF, H. E., HUMM, D. G. AND WINKLER, A. W.: Concentration of potassium in serum and response to vagal stimulation in the dog. Am. J. Physiol., 142: 627-632, 1944.
- 127. HOITINK, A. W. J. H.: Treatment of acute fatal hemorrhage by injection of artificial blood substitutes, a comparative study of artificial blood substitutes. Surg., Gynec. & Obst., 61: 613-622, 1935.
- HOLMES, J. H. AND PAINTER, E. E.: The rôle of the extracellular fluid in traumatic shock in dogs. Am. J. Physiol., 148: 201-210, 1947.
- HOLMES, J. H.: The relation of serum potassium to shock in dogs subjected to muscle trauma. Am. J. Physiol., 148: 449-454, 1947.
- HORTON, H. V.: The reversible loss of excitability in isolated amphibian voluntary muscle. II. A comparison of the inexcitable condition obtained by different methods. J. Physiol., 70: 389-403, 1930.
- HOUSSAY, B. A., MARENZI, A. D. AND GERSCHMAN, R.: Variation du potassium et méchanisme sympathicoadrénalino-hépatique suivant les conditions physiopathologiques ou pharmacologiques. Compt. rend. Soc. biol., 124: 384-386, 1937.
- HOWARD, J. M. AND DE BAKEY, M. E.: The treatment of hemorrhagic shock with cortisone and vitamin B₁₃. Surgery, 30: 161-165, 1951.
- HOWLAND, J. W. AND MAHONEY, E. B.: The protein and fluid balance in experimental shock produced by intestinal trauma. Surgery, 13: 889-899, 1943.
- 134. INGRAHAM, R. C., GOLDBERG, H., ROEMHILD, F. AND WIGGERS, H. C.: Influence of sodium pentobarbital upon course of events in experimental hemorrhagic shock. Am. J. Physiol., 162: 243-248, 1950.
- 135. IVY, A. C., GREENGARD, H., STEIN, I. F., JR., GRODINS, F. S. AND DUTTON, D. F.: The effect of various blood substitutes in resuscitation after an otherwise fatal hemorrhage. Surg., Gynec. & Obst., 76: 85-90, 1943.
- 136. JOHNSON, G. S. AND BLALOCK, A.: Experimental shock. IX. A study of the effects of the loss of whole blood, of blood plasma, and of red blood cells. A. M. A. Arch. Surg., 22: 626-637, 1931.
- 137. KATZ, L. N., KILLIAN, S. T., ASHER, R. AND PERLOW, S.: The prophylactic action of desoxycorticosterone in shock due to massive venous thrombosis. Am. J. Physiol., 137: 79-86, 1942.
- 138. KATZ, L. N., SHLESER, I. H., ASHER, R. AND PERLOW, S.: Prevention of experimental shock following venous occlusion in the dog by the application of a rigid cast. Am. J. Physiol., 137: 589-592, 1942.
- 139. KATZ, L. N., FRIEDBERG, L. AND ANHER, R.: Efficacy of isotonic sodium chloride and glucose solutions in preventing shock following venous occlusion of a limb in the dog. Am. J. Physiol., 140: 65-71, 1943.
- 140. KAUMP, D. H. AND PARSONS, J. C.: Extrarenal azotemia in gastro-intestinal hemorrhage (II). Experimental observations. Am. J. Dig. Dis., 7: 191-194, 1940.
- KEELEY, G. L., GIBSON, J. G., 2ND AND PIJOAN, M.: The effect of thermal trauma on blood volume, serum protein and certain blood electrolytes; an experimental study of the effect of burns. Surgery, 5: 872-893, 1939.
- 142. KEITH, N. M.: Blood volume changes in wound shock and primary hemorrhage. Medical Research Committee. Spec. Rep. No. 27, London 1919.
- 143. KENDALL, E. C.: The influence of the adrenal cortex on the metabolism of water and electrolytes. Vitamins & Hormones, 6: 277-327, 1948.
- 144. KERR, S. E.: Studies on the inorganic composition of blood. I. The effect of hemorrhage on the inorganic composition of serum and corpuscles. J. Biol. Chem., 67: 689-720, 1926.
- 145. KERR, S. E.: Studies on the inorganic composition of blood. IV. The relationship of potassium to the acid soluble phosphorus fractions. J. Biol. Chem., 117: 227-235, 1937.
- 146. KETY, S. S., NATHANSON, I. T., NUTT, A. L., POPE, A., ZAMECNIK, P. C., AUB, J. C. AND BRUES, A. M.: The toxic factors in experimental traumatic shock. III. Shock accompanying muscle ischemia and loss of vascular fluid. J. Clin. Invest., 24: 839-844, 1945.

- 147. KLEINBERG, W., REMINOTON, J. W., EVERSOLE, W. J., OVERMAN, R. R. AND SWINGLE, W. W.: The effectiveness of plasma, gelatin and saline transfusions in preventing shock induced by leg muscle trauma and tourniquets. Am. J. Physiol., 140: 197-204, 1943.
- 148. KOHLSTAEDT, K. G. AND PAGE, I. H.: Hemorrhagic hypotension and its treatment by intra-arterial and intravenous infusion of blood. A. M. A. Arch. Surg., 47: 178-191, 1943.
- 149. KOLETSKY, S. AND GUSTAFSON, G. E.: Fluid loss in rats with tourniquet shock. J. Clin. Invest., 25: 744-751, 1946.
- KOLETSKY, S. AND GUSTAFSON, G. E.: Effect of plaster cast on tourniquet shock. Proc. Soc. Exper. Biol. & Med., 75: 776-778, 1950.
- 150a. KOLETSKY, S. AND GUSTAFSON, G. E.: Tourniquet shock in rats. Reversibility in the terminal phase. Am. J. Physiol., 178: 229-232, 1954.
- 151. LAMSON, P. D. AND DETURE, W. E.: Studies on shock induced by hemorrhage. XI. A method for the accurate control of blood pressure. J. Pharmacol. & Exper. Therap., 83: 250-252, 1945.
- 152. LANDS, A. M. AND JOHNSON, W.: Distribution of body water following hemorrhage. Proc. Soc. Exper. Biol. & Med., 49: 123-128, 1942.
- 153. LANGOHR, J. L., ROSENFELD, L., OWEN, C. R. AND COPE, O.: Effect of therapeutic cold on the circulation of blood and lymph in thermal burns, an experimental study. A. M. A. Arch. Surg., 59: 1031-1044, 1949.
- 154. LASKEB, S. E., FOX, C. L., JR. AND WINFIELD, J. M.: Redistribution of total body albumin and electrolytes in mice after thermal burns. Fed. Proc., 13: 84, 1954.
- LAWSON, H.: The measurement of bleeding volume in the dog for studies on blood substitutes. Am. J. Physiol., 140: 420-430, 1944.
- 156. LEHMANN, E. P. AND AMOLE, C. V.: The function of the spleen in the retardation of shock from hemorrhage. Surgery, 4: 44-50, 1938.
- 157. LEITER, L.: Experimental edema. Proc. Soc. Exper. Biol. & Med., 26: 173-175, 1928.
- 158. LEMLEY, J. M. AND MENEELY, G. R.: Distribution of tissue fluid in hearts of rats subjected to anoxia. Am. J. Physiol., 169: 61-65, 1952.
- 159. LEVINE, R., HUDDLESTUN, B., PERSKY, H. AND SOSKIN, S.: The successful treatment of so called "irreversible" shock by whole blood supplemented with sodium bicarbonate and glucose. Am. J. Physiol., 141: 209-215, 1944.
- 160. LEVINSON, S. O., NEUWELT, F. AND NECHELES, H.: Human serum as a blood substitute in the treatment of hemorrhage and shock. J. A. M. A., 114: 455-461, 1940.
- LEWIS, R. N., WEBLE, J. M. AND WIGGERS, C. J.: The behavior of the spleen in hemorrhagic hypotension and shock. Am. J. Physiol., 138: 205-211, 1943.
- LEWIS, L. A., PAGE, I. H. AND GLASSER, O.: Plasma proteins (electrophoretic technique) in normal and shocked dogs. Am. J. Physiol., 161: 101-105, 1950.
 LISCHER, C., ELMAN, R. AND DAVEY, H. W.: Experimental burns. III. Changes in plasma albumin and globu-
- lin. War Med., 5: 43-45, 1944. 164. LOCKE, W.: An experimental method for evaluating blood substitutes. Report on saline, plasma, polyvinyl
- alcohol and isinglass. Science, 99: 475-476, 1944. 165. LOWDEN, A. G. R., MCKAIL, R. A., RAE, S. L., STEWART, C. P. AND WILSON, W. C.: Changes in blood and ex-
- tracellular fluids following scalds. J. Physiol., 96: 27P-28P, 1939.
- 166. MCCARTHY, M. D.: A comparison of plasma expanders with blood and plasma as a supplement to electrolyte solutions in the treatment of rats undergoing third degree burns of fifty per cent of the body surface. Ann. Surg., 136: 546-551, 1952.
- 167. MCCABTHY, M. D. AND PARKINS, W. M.: Comparative effectiveness of albumin, globin, hemoglobin, gelatin, oxypolygelatin, saline, Ringer's, blood and plasma upon the survival of rats subjected to standardized scald burns. Am. J. Physiol., 159: 428-443, 1947.
- 168. MCCARTHY, M. D. AND DRAHEIM, J. W.: Survival of thermally injured rats infused with saline, polyvinylpyrrolidone, dextran and oxypolygelatin. Proc. Soc. Exper. Biol. & Med., 79: 346-349, 1952.
- MCCARTHY, M. D. AND NEWLIN, N.: Range of efficacy of sodium chloride solutions in treating severe thermal injury in the rat. J. Lab. & Clin. Med., 41: 416-420, 1953.
 MCKEE, F. W., LAYCOCK, C. F., MARTENS, T. J. AND NICHOLL, R. J.: Hemorrhagic shock. The relative effect
- 170. MCKEE, F. W., LAYCOCK, C. F., MARTENS, T. J. AND NICHOLL, R. J.: Hemorrhagic shock. The relative effect of saline, washed red cells, and heparinized plasma in dogs. Surg., Gynec. & Obst., 78: 509-514, 1944.
- MADDEN, S. C. AND WHIPPLE, G. H.: Plasma proteins; their source, production and utilization. Physiol. Rev., 20: 194-217, 1940.
- 172. MAGLADERY, J. W., SOLANDT, D. Y. AND BEST, C. H.: Serum and plasma in treatment of hemorrhage in experimental animals. Brit. M. J., 2: 248-250, 1940.
- 173. MANERY, J. F. AND SOLANDT, D. Y.: Studies in experimental traumatic shock with particular reference to plasma potassium changes. Am. J. Physiol., 138: 499-511, 1943.
- 174. MANN, F. C.: Shock and haemorrhage; an experimental study. Surg., Gynec. & Obst., 21: 430-441, 1915.
- 175. MANN, F. C.: Experimental surgical shock. V. The treatment of the condition of low blood pressure which follows exposure of the abdominal viscers. Am. J. Physiol., 59: 86-101, 1919.
- 176. METCALF, W.: The fate and effects of transfused serum or plasma in normal dogs. J. Clin. Invest., 23: 403-415, 1944.
- 177. MEYER, J., LENDRUM, B. AND KATZ, L. N.: The effect of sodium and chloride salts in preventing the shocklike state following venous occlusion of a limb in the dog. Am. J. Physiol., 145: 151-153, 1945.
- 178. MILLER, H. C.: The extrarenal regulation of muscle and serum potassium following extracellular fluid and sodium depletion. J. Biol. Chem., 147: 121-129, 1943.

- 179. MILLER, H. C. AND DARROW, D. C.: Relation of muscle electrolyte to alterations in serum potassium and to the toxic effects of injected potassium chloride. Am. J. Physiol., 139: 747-758, 1940.
- MILLICAN, R. C.: Labeled red cell and plasma protein distribution studies in tourniquet shocked mice. Fed. Proc., 13: 388, 1954; Am. J. Physiol., 179: Dec., 1954.
 MILLICAN, R. C.: Effectiveness of intraperitoneally administered plasma and saline in burn-shocked mice. Fed.
- Proc., 13: 388, 1954. 182. MILLICAN, R. C., TABOR, H. AND ROSENTHAL, S. M.: Traumatic shock in mice. Comparison of survival rates
- following therapy. Am. J. Physiol., 170: 179-186, 1952. 183. MILLICAN, R. C., TABOR, H., STOHLMAN, E. F. AND ROBENTHAL, S. M.: Traumatic shock in mice. Acute hemo-
- dynamic effects of therapy. Am. J. Physiol., 176: 187-195, 1952. 184. MILLICAN, R. C. AND ROSENTHAL, S. M.: Physical agents and trauma. Mechanisms and therapy of traumatic abock. Ann. Rev. Med., 5: 285-304, 1954.
- 185. MILROY, T. H.: The reaction regulator mechanism of the blood before and after hemorrhage. J. Physiol., 51: 229-282. 1917.
- 186. MOON, V. H.: Shock, its dynamics, occurrence and management. Lee and Febiger, Philadelphia, 1942.
- MOORE, D. H.: Electrophoretic study of tissue extracts and sera of mice after shock-producing injuries. Am. J. Physiol., 173: 131-137, 1953.
- 188. MOORE, D. H., NICKERSON, J. L., POWELL, A. E. AND MARKS, G.: A study of the transfer of serum proteins into tissue injured by tourniquet. Proc. Soc. Exper. Biol. & Med., 77: 706-709, 1951.
- MOORE, F. D.: The metabolic response to thermal injury. Symposium on burns. Nat. Res. Council, Washington, 1951.
- MOORE, F. D., LANGOHR, J. L., INGEBRETSEN, M. AND COPE, O.: The role of exudate losses in the protein and electrolyte imbalance of burned patients. Ann. Surg., 132: 1-19, 1950.
- MORRISON, A. E., LUNDY, J. S. AND ESSEX, H. E.: An evaluation of replacement fluids in laboratory animals following control hemorrhage. Circulation, 5: 208-214, 1952.
- 192. MOYER, C. A., COLLEB, F. A., IOB, V. AND VAUGHN, H. H.: A study of the interrelationship of salt solutions, serum and defibrinated blood in the treatment of severely scalded, anesthetized dogs. Ann. Surg., 129: 367-376, 1944.
- MULLIN, F. J., DENNIS, J. AND CALVIN, D. B.: Blood potassium in tetany and asphyxia of dogs. Am. J. Physiol., 124: 192-201, 1938.
- MYLON, E., WINTERNITZ, M. C. AND DE SÜTÖ-NAGY, G. J.: Studies on therapy in traumatic shock. Am. J. Physiol., 139: 313-324, 1943.
- 195. MYLON, E., CASHMAN, C. W., JR. AND WINTERNITZ, M. C.: Studies on the mechanisms involved in shock and its therapy. Am. J. Physiol., 142: 299-309, 1944.
- 196. NASTUE, W. L. AND BEATTY, C. H.: Therapy in hemorrhagic shock: effects of supplementation of whole blood transfusions with glucose and with sodium bicarbonate. Am. J. Physiol., 156: 210-217, 1949.
- NATHANSON, I. T., NUTT, A. L., POPE, A., ZAMECNIK, P. C., AUB, J. C., BRUES, A. M. AND KETY, S. S.: The toxic factors in experimental traumatic shock. I. Physiologic effects of muscle ligation in the dog. J. Clin. Invert. 24: 829-834, 1945.
- 198. NEAL, W. B., JR., WOODARD, E. R., KARK, A. E., ZUBIRAN, J. M. AND MONTALBETTI, J. A.: Effect of ACTH, cortisone and DOCA on survival of the burned rat. A. M. A. Arch. Surg., 65: 774-782, 1952.
- 199. NEUWELT, F., LEVINSON, S. O., OLSON, W. AND NECHELES, H.: Further studies of hemorrhage and serum infusion. Surgery, 8: 644-647, 1940.
- 200. NICKERSON, J. L.: Local fluid loss in trauma. Am. J. Physiol., 144: 429-436, 1945.
- 201. OVERBY, D. J.: The recruitment of blood from the spleen during hemorrhage. Fed. Proc., 5: 78, 1946.
- 202. OVERMAN, R. R.: Sodium, potassium, and chloride alterations in disease. Physiol. Rev., 31: 285-311, 1951.
- 203. PARKINS, W. M., KOOP, C. E., RIEGEL, C. AND VARS, H. M.: Gelatin as a plasma substitute: with particular reference to experimental hemorrhage and burn shock. Ann. Surg., 118: 193-214, 1943.
- PARKINS, W. M., PERLMUTT, J. H. AND VARS, H. M.: Evaluation of crystalloidal solutions in hemorrhaged dogs. Am. J. Physiol., 170: 351-356, 1952.
- 205. PARKINS, W. M., PERLMUTT, J. H. AND VARS, H. M.: Dextran, oxypolygelatin and modified fluid gelatin as replacement fluids in experimental hemorrhage. Am. J. Physiol., 173: 403-410, 1953.
- 206. PARSONS, E. AND PHEMISTER, D. B.: Haemorrhage and "shock" in traumatized limbs. An experimental study. Surg., Gynec. & Obst., 51: 196-207, 1930.
- PASQUALINE, C. D. DE: The effect of ascorbic acid on hemorrhagic shock in the guinea pig. Am. J. Physiol., 147: 598-601, 1946.
- 208. PATVIN, L.: Le sort immédiat des protéines plasmatiques injectées chez le chien. Arch. internat. physiol., 59: 187-164, 1951.
- 208a. PEARL, R.: Introduction to medical biometry and statistics. W. B. Saunders Co., Philadelphia, 1941.
- 209. PERLMAN, G. E., GLENN, W. W. L. AND KAUFMAN, D.: Changes in the electrophoretic pattern in lymph and serum in experimental burns. J. Clin. Invest., 22: 627-633, 1943.
- 210. POPE, A., ZAMECNIK, P. C., AUB, J. C., BRUES, A. M., DUBOS, R. J., NATHANSON, I. T. AND NUTT, A. L.: The toxic factors in experimental traumatic shock. VI. The toxic influence of the bacterial flora, particularly *Clostridium welchii* in exudates of ischemic muscle. J. Clin. Invest., 24: 856-863, 1945.
- 211. PRICE, P. B., HANLON, C. R., LONGMIRE, W. P. AND METCALF, W.: Experimental shock. I. Effects of acute hemorrhage in healthy dogs. Bull. Johns Hopkins Hosp., 69: 327-362, 1941.

- 212. PRICE, P. B., METCALF, W., LONGMIRE, W. P., HANLON, C. R. AND RIZZOLI, H. V.: Experimental shock. II. Effects of acute plasmapheresis in healthy dogs. Bull. Johns Hopkins Hosp., 75: 14-34, 1944.
- 213. PRINZMETAL, M., HECHTER, O., MARGOLES, C. AND FEIGEN, G.: A principle from liver effective against shock due to burns. J. A. M. A., 122: 720-722, 1943.
- 214. PRINZMETAL, M., BERGMAN, H. C. AND HECHTER, O.: A demonstration of two types of burn shock. Surgery, 16: 906-913, 1944.
- 215. RABBONI, F.: Ricerche sperimentali sulle variazioni dell' equilibrio elettrolitico nello shock traumatico. Riv. di pat. sper., 12: 309-333, 1934.
- RAISE, L. G. AND PULASKI, E. J.: A comparison of efficacy of dextran, oxypolygelatin, plasma and saline as plasma volume expanders. Am. J. Physiol., 169: 475-482, 1952.
- 217. RANDALL, H. T.: The shifts of fluid and electrolytes in shock. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sc., 55: 412-428, 1952.
- RAVDIN, I. S., WALKER, J. M. AND RHOADS, J. E.: Blood volume maintenance and regulation. Ann. Rev. Physiol., 15: 165–194, 1953.
- 218a. RAVIN, H. A., DENSON, J. R. AND JENSEN, H.: Electrolyte shifts and electrocardiographic changes during tourniquet shock in rats. Am. J Physiol., 178: 419-426, 1954.
- REICHMAN, S., YOU, S. S. AND SELLERS, E. A.: Effects of ACTH, cortisone and desoxycorticosterone on burn shock. Canad. M. A. J., 66: 551-552, 1952.
- REYNOLDS, M.: Cardiovascular effects of large volumes of isotonic saline infused intravenously into dogs following severe hemorrhage. Am. J. Physiol., 158: 418-428, 1949.
- RHINELANDER, F. W., LANGOHR, J. L. AND COPE, O.: Explorations into the physiological basis for the therapeutic use of restrictive bandages in thermal trauma. An experimental study. A. M. A. Arch. Surg., 59: 1057-1069, 1949.
- 222. RICCA, R. A., FINK, K., KATZIN, L. I. AND WARBEN, S. L.: Effect of environmental temperature on experimental traumatic shock in dogs. J. Clin. Invest., 24: 127-139, 1945.
- 223. RICCA, R. A., FINK, K., STEADMAN, L. T. AND WARREN, S. L.: The distribution of body fluids of dogs in traumatic shock. J. Clin. Invest., 24: 140-145, 1945.
- 224. RICCA, R. A., FINK, K. AND WARREN, S. L.: The effect of sulfadiazine, antitoxins, globulins and dog plasma on dogs in traumatic shock under sodium pentothal anesthesia. J. Clin. Invest., 24: 146-148, 1945.
- 225. RICHARDH, D. W., JR.: The circulation in traumatic shock in man. Harvey Lect., 39: 217-253, 1944.
- 226. ROBERTSON, J. D.: A comparison of the interchange of the body fluids after intravenous injections of crystalloids, gum acacia and blood-serum. Brit. J. Exper. Path., 19: 30-41, 1938.
- 227. ROOME, N. W., KEITH, W. S. AND PHEMISTER, D. B.: Experimental shock. The effect of bleeding after reduction of blood pressure by various methods. Surg., Gynec. & Obst., 56: 161-168, 1933.
- 228. ROOS, A., WEISIGER, J. R. AND MORITZ, A. R.: Studies of thermal injury. VII. Physiological mechanisms responsible for death during cutaneous exposure to excessive heat. J. Clin. Invest., 26: 505-519, 1947.
- 229. ROOT, W. S., ALLISON, J. B., COLE, W. H., HOLMES, J. H., WALCOTT, W. W. AND GREGERSEN, M. I.: Disturbances in the chemistry and in the acid base balance of the blood of dogs in hemorrhagic and traumatic shock. Am. J. Physiol., 149: 52-63, 1947.
- ROSENTHAL, S. M.: Experimental chemotherapy of burns and shock. III. Effects of systemic therapy on early mortality. Pub. Health Rep., 58: 513-518, 1943.
- 231. ROSENTHAL, S. M.: Experimental chemotherapy of burns and shock. IV. Production of traumatic shock in mice. V. Therapy with mouse serum and sodium salts. Pub. Health Rep., 58: 1429-1436, 1943.
- 232. ROBENTHAL, S. M. AND TABOR, H.: Electrolyte changes and chemotherapy in experimental burn and traumatic shock and hemorrhage. A. M. A. Arch. Surg., 51: 244-252, 1945.
- 233. ROSENTHAL, S. M., TABOR, H., MILLICAN, R. C. AND KABAT, H.: Unpublished experiments.
- 234. SAYERS, M. A., SAYERS, G., ENGEL, M. G., ENGEL, F. L. AND LONG, C. N. H.: Elevation of plasma amino nitrogen as an index of the gravity of hemorrhagic shock. Proc. Soc. Exper. Biol. & Med., 66: 20-22, 1945.
- 235. SAYERS, M. A., SAYERS, G. AND LONG, C. N. H.: The standardization of hemorrhagic shock in the rat: observations on the effects of transfusions of whole blood and some blood substitutes. Am. J. Physiol., 147: 155-164, 1946.
- 236. SCOTT, C. C.: Failure of fluid to account for death in experimental shock. J. Clin. Invest., 25: 153-157, 1946.
- 237. SCOTT, C. C., WORTH, H. M. AND ROBBINS, E. B.: Comparative value of some blood substitutes used for treatment of experimental shock. A. M. A. Arch. Surg., 48: 315-318, 1944.
- 238. SCUDDER, J.: Shock, blood studies as a guide to therapy. J. B. Lippincott Co., Philadelphia, 1940.
- 239. SCUDDER, J., SMITH, M. E. AND DREW, C. R.: Plasma potassium content of cardiac blood at death. Am. J. Physiol., 126: 337-340, 1939.
- 240. SELLEBS, E. A. AND WILLARD, J. W.: The effect of plaster casts and local cooling on hemoconcentration and mortality rate in burns. Canad. M. A. J., 49: 461-464, 1943.
- 241. SELYE, H.: The physiology and pathology of exposure to stress. Acta Inc., Montreal, 1950.
- 242. SHARPLEY-SHAFER, E. P. AND WALLACE, J.: Retention of injected serum in the circulation. Lancet, 242: 699-701, 1942.
- SMITH, H. P., BELT, A. E. AND WHIPPLE, G. H.: I. Rapid blood plasma protein depletion and the curve of regeneration. Am. J. Physiol., 52: 54-71, 1920.
- 243a. SMITH, H. W.: The kidney, structure and function in health and disease. Oxford University Press. New York, 1951.
- 244. SOLANDT, D. Y. AND BEST, C. H.: Studies on the etiology of traumatic shock, in blood substitutes and blood transfusion. Mudd, S. and Thalheimer, W. editors, C. C. Thomas, Springfield, Ill., 1942.

- STANBURY, J. B., WARWEG, E. AND AMBERSON, W. R.: Total plasmapheresis. Am. J. Physiol., 117: 230-236, 1936.
- 246. STARLING, E. H.: On the absorption of fluids from the connective tissue spaces. J. Physiol., 19: 312-326, 1896.
- 247. STARLING, E. H.: The fluids of the body. A. Constable and Co., London, 1909.
- 248. STEWART, J. D. AND ROURKE, G. M.: Intracellular fluid loss in hemorrhage. J. Clin. Invest., 15: 697-702, 1936.
- 249. SWINGLE, W. W., REMINGTON, J. W., KLEINBERG, W., DRILL, V. A. AND EVERSOLE, W. J.: An experimental study of the tourniquet as a method for inducing circulatory failure in the dog. Am. J. Physiol., 138: 156-165, 1942.
- 250. SWINGLE, W. W., KLEINBERG, W. AND HAYS, H. W.: A study of gelatin and saline as plasma substitutes. Am. J. Physiol., 141: 329–337, 1944.
- 251. SWINGLE, W. W. AND KLEINBERG, W.: Plasma, gelatin and saline therapy in experimental wound shock. Am. J. Physiol., 141: 713-721, 1944.
- 252. TABOR, H., KABAT, H. AND ROSENTHAL, S. M.: The chemotherapy of burns and shock. VI. Standardized hemorrhage in the mouse. VII. Therapy of experimental hemorrhage. Pub. Health Rep., 59: 637-658, 1944.
- 253. TABOR, H. AND ROSENTHAL, S. M.: Experimental chemotherapy of burns and shock. VIII. Effects of potassium administration, of sodium loss, and fluid loss in tourniquet shock. Electrolyte changes in tourniquet shock. Pub. Health Rep., 60: 373-381; 401-419, 1945.
- 254. TABOR, H. AND ROSENTHAL, S. M.: Body temperature and oxygen consumption in traumatic shock and hemorrhage in mice. Am. J. Physiol., 149: 449-464, 1947.
- 255. TABOR, H., ROSENTHAL, S. M. AND MILLICAN, R. C.: Distribution of administered fluid in mice subjected to tourniquet shock. Am. J. Physiol., 167: 517-522, 1951.
- 256. THALER, J. I.: Evidence of permeability of tissue cells to potassium. Proc. Soc. Exper. Biol. & Med., 33: 368-371, 1935.
- UNDERHILL, F. P. AND FISK, M. E.: Studies in the water exchange in the animal organism. IV. Composition of edema fluid resulting from a superficial burn. Am. J. Physiol., 95: 330-333, 1930.
- 258. UNDERHILL, F. P., FISK, M. E. AND KAPSINOW, R.: Studies of the mechanism of water exchange in the animal organism. V. The relationship of the blood chlorides to the chlorides of edema fluid produced by a superficial burn. Am. J. Physiol., 95: 334-338, 1930.
- UNDERHILL, F. P., FISK, M. E. AND KAPSINOW, R.: Studies on the mechanism of water exchange in the animal organism. VI. Composition of tissues under the influence of a superficial burn. Am. J. Physiol., 95: 339-347, 1930.
- 260. UNDERHILL, F. P. AND FISK, M. E.: Studies on the mechanism of water exchange in the animal organism. VII. An investigation of dehydration produced by various means. Am. J. Physiol., 95: 348-363, 1930.
- 261. UNDERHILL, F. P.: The significance of anhydremia in extensive superficial burns. J. A. M. A., 95: 852-857, 1930.
- 262. WALCOTT, W. W.: Blood volume in experimental hemorrhagic shock. Am. J. Physiol., 143: 247-253, 1945.
- 263. WALCOTT, W. W.: Standardization of experimental hemorrhagic shock. Am. J. Physiol., 143: 254-261, 1945
- 264. WALSER, M. AND BODENLOS, L. J.: Transfers of electrolytes in experimental flash burns. Fed. Proc., 13: 159, 1954.
- 265. WANG, S. C., OVERMAN, R. R., FERTIG, J. W., ROOT, W. S. AND GREGERSEN, M. I.: The relation of blood volume reduction to mortality rate in hemorrhagic and traumatic shock in dogs. Am. J. Physiol., 148: 164-173, 1947.
- 266. WARREN, K. W. AND HARKINS, H. N.: The use of plasmapheresis experiments as an index of the efficacy of blood substitutes. Pap. Mich. Acad. Sci., 28: 677-681, 1942.
- WARREN, J. V., MERRILL, A. J. AND STEAD, E. A., JR.: The role of the extracellular fluid in the maintenance of a normal plasma volume. J. Clin. Invest., 22: 635-641, 1943.
- WASSERMAN, K. AND MAYERSON, H. S.: Exchange of albumin between plasma and lymph. Am. J. Physiol., 165: 15-26, 1951.
- 269. WASSERMAN, K. AND MAYERSON, H. S.: Mechanism of plasma protein changes following saline infusions. Am. J. Physiol., 170: 1-10, 1952.
- 270. WASSERMAN, K. AND MAYERSON, H. S.: Plasma, lymph and urine studies after dextran infusion. Am. J. Physiol., 171: 218-232, 1952.
- WASSERMAN, K. AND MAYERSON, H. S.: Plasma and dextran infusions following hemorrhage in dogs. Fed. Proc., 11: 168, 1952.
- WASSERMAN, K., JOBEPH, J. D. AND MAYERSON, H. S.: Plasma protein specific activity changes following hemorrhage and infusion. Fed. Proc., 13: 161, 1954.
- 273. WESTPHAL, U., DE ARMOND, R., PRIEST, S. G. AND STETS, J. F.: Azorubin binding capacity and protein composition of serum of rats subjected to tourniquet shock and to treatment with carbon tetrachloride. J. Clin. Invest., 31: 1064-1068, 1952.
- 274. WESTPHAL, U., PRIEST, S. G. AND STETS, J. F.: Protein composition and azorubin binding capacity of serum of rabbits subjected to tourniquet shock. Am. J. Physiol. 173: 305-311, 1953.
- 275. WHIPPLE, G. H., SMITH, H. P. AND BELT, E. A.: II. Shock as a manifestation of tissue injury following rapid plasma protein depletion. Am. J. Physiol., 52: 72-100, 1920.
- 276. WIGGERS, C. J.: Physiology of shock. Commonwealth Fund, New York, 1950.
- 277. WIGGERS, H. C. AND INGRAHAM, R. C.: Value of alkalizing agents in preventing the transition from impending to irreversible hemorrhagic shock. Am. J. Physiol., 146: 431-438, 1946.
- 278. WILHELMI, H.: Metabolic aspects of shock. Ann. Rev. Physiol., 10: 259-276, 1948.

- 279. WILSON, H. AND ROOME, N. W.: The effects of constriction and release of an extremity, an experimental study. A. M. A. Arch. Surg., 32: 334-345, 1936.
- WINFIELD, J. M., FOX, C. L., JR. AND MERSHEIMER, W. L.: Etiologic factors in postoperative salt retention and its prevention. Ann. Surg., 134: 626-634, 1951.
- 281. WINKLER, A. W., HOFF, H. E. AND SMITH, P. K.: Toxicity of potassium in adrenalectomized dogs. Am. J. Physiol., 133: 494-495, 1941.
- 282. WINKLER, A. W. AND HOFF, H. E.: Potassium and the cause of death in traumatic shock. Am. J. Physiol., 139: 686-692, 1943.
- 283. WINKLER, A. W., DANOWSKI, T. S. AND ELKINTON, J. R.: The rôle of colloid and of saline in the treatment of shock. J. Clin. Invest., 25: 220-225, 1946.
- 284. ZAMECNIK, P. C., AUB, J. C., BRUES, A. M., KETY, S. S., NATHANSON, I. T., NUTT, A. L. AND POPE, A.: The toxic factors in experimental traumatic shock. V. Chemical and enzymatic properties of muscle exudate. J. Clin. Invest., 24: 850-855, 1945.
- ZWEMER, R. L. AND SCUDDER, J.: Potassium changes in experimental shock. Am. J. Physiol., 119: 427, 1937.
 ZWEMER, R. L. AND PIKE, F. H.: Effect of nerve excitation on potassium in body fluids. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sc., 37: 257-272, 1938.
- 287. ZWEMER, R. L. AND SCUDDER, J.: Blood potassium during experimental shock. Surgery, 4: 510-527, 1938.